

The significance of vegetation for arthropod communities along gradients of climate and land use

Cynthia Monika Tobisch

Vollständiger Abdruck der von der TUM School of Life Sciences der Technischen Universität

München zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades einer

Doktorin der Naturwissenschaften (Dr. rer. nat.)

genehmigten Dissertation.

Vorsitz: Prof. Dr. Anja Rammig

Prüfer*innen der Dissertation:

- 1. Prof. Dr. Johannes Kollmann
- 2. Prof. Dr. Jörg Ewald
- 3. Prof. Dr. Jan Christian Habel

Die Dissertation wurde am 10.07.2023 bei der Technischen Universität München eingereicht und durch die TUM School of Life Sciences am 23.10.2023 angenommen.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURES
LIST OF TABLES
SUMMARY
ZUSAMMENFASSUNG
GENERAL INTRODUCTION
Significance of plants and arthropods in terrestrial ecosystems
Plant and arthropod declines in the past decades10
Effects of climate and land use on plant and arthropod communities10
Relationships between plant and arthropod communities14
OBJECTIVES AND OUTLINE
METHODS
Study design21
Vegetation survey23
Arthropod survey24
Local temperature and humidity25
Data analyses25
SUMMARY OF PUBLICATIONS
Publication 1: Plant species composition and local habitat conditions as primary determinants of terrestrial arthropod assemblages
Publication 2: Conservation-relevant plant species indicate arthropod richness across trophic levels: Habitat quality is more important than habitat amount
Publication 3: Relationships of insect biomass and richness with land use along a climate gradient
DISCUSSION
Effects of climate and land use on plant and arthropod communities
Plant-arthropod relationships40
Methodological restrictions and further research perspectives43
Implications for conservation management45
CONCLUSION

REFERENCES	49
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	63
APPENDIX	65
A1 Additional analysis relating to Publication 3	66
A2 Publication list	69

LIST OF FIGURES

Fig. 1: Example of a structurally rich landscape and a cleared, intensively used landscape	ə, with
species representing typical ecosystems of both landscapes	12
Fig. 2: Graphical overview of the thesis showing the key aspects of the study design ar	nd the
main contents of Publications 1-3	20
Fig. 3: Sampling design of the PhD thesis	22
Fig. 4: Examples of study sites	23
Fig. 5: Graphical abstract of Publication 1	28
Fig. 6: Graphical abstract of Publication 2	30
Fig. 7: Graphical abstract of Publication 3	33
Fig. 8: Main findings of the PhD thesis	37

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Variables and methods used in the data analyses27
--

SUMMARY

Plants and arthropods are central components of biodiversity and thus essential for ecosystem functioning. Severe losses in the abundance and diversity of vascular plants and terrestrial arthropods are reported across Europe and worldwide. Effective methods to maintain and promote biodiversity in human-dominated landscapes are needed, since the widespread declines are not restricted to certain habitats, but even occur within protected areas. Climate change and land-use alteration are major threats to biodiversity and ecosystems. Effects of climate and land use are interacting, such that the combination of both factors reinforces or counterbalances their impacts on species communities. However, the relative importance of these stressors in driving declines and community shifts in plants and arthropods is not well understood. Furthermore, plant and arthropod communities may interact in various ways. These include trophic relationships as well as the integrative role of vegetation in reflecting and modulating the local environment perceived by arthropods. However, there is much uncertainty about the extent to which these mechanisms that drive correlations between plants and arthropods at the level of species communities.

The aim of the thesis was to investigate the effects of climate and land use on plant and arthropod communities and to improve the understanding of the relationships between these species groups by exploring correlation patterns between plants and arthropods at the level of species composition, species richness and biomass. Further, the mechanisms behind these correlations were assessed, including direct and integrative aspects of vegetation. In an extensive field study carried out in Bavaria, vascular plants and terrestrial arthropods were sampled across independent gradients of climate and land use. The study sites covered typical habitat types of temperate Europe (forest, grassland, arable land and settlement). Using Malaise traps and DNA-Metabarcoding allowed to include a broad range of trophic and taxonomic arthropod groups in the analyses. Plant species data was collected in vegetation plots at the trap locations and during transect walks covering the further surroundings of the study sites.

Publication 1 investigated the effects of plant species composition, climate and land use on arthropod species composition, and explored which aspects of vegetation contribute to the relationships between plant and arthropod assemblages. Plant species composition explained the major fraction of variance in arthropod composition, while land-cover composition was another important predictor. Furthermore, the local habitat conditions depicted by the indicator values of the plant communities were more relevant for arthropod composition than trophic relationships between certain plant and arthropod species. The results emphasize the value of plants as a proxy for characterizing habitat conditions that are hardly accessible to direct environmental measurements.

Publication 2 investigated the significance of plant species richness as indicator for arthropod species richness and evaluated the importance of habitat amount and landscape configuration for both plant and arthropod richness. Across trophic levels, arthropod richness showed strong positive responses to the richness of plants that indicate protected biotopes. Red-listed plant species numbers promoted the richness of red-listed arthropods and butterflies. Overall, conservation-relevant plants species were more important predictors for arthropod richness than the amount of surrounding semi-natural habitat or landscape configuration. Plant species richness was mainly driven by local land use, with total species richness being highest in settlements and biotope-indicator richness being highest in forests. The results highlight the importance of forests including clearings and fringes for the conservation of plants and arthropods as well as of preserving and restoring high-quality habitats in agricultural and urban areas.

Publication 3 focused on the effects of climate and land use on arthropod biomass and richness. In addition, further analyses within this thesis assessed the relative importance of plant biomass and richness for arthropod biomass. Both biomass and species richness of arthropods increased with local temperature and were highest in forest sites. Arthropod biomass was lowest in urban sites, whereas arthropod species richness was lowest in arable land. Neither plant biomass nor plant richness showed substantial effects on arthropod biomass. The study identifies both intensive agriculture and urbanization as main drivers of arthropod declines. Contrasting responses of arthropod biomass and species richness suggest that these measures should not be considered as equivalent biodiversity indicators.

The overall discussion of the thesis summarizes the results of the three publications. The findings are discussed in the context of ongoing biodiversity losses, climate warming and landuse change, and study limitations are outlined. Based on the results, recommendations for the conservation and monitoring of plant and arthropod diversity in Central European landscapes are derived.

6

ZUSAMMENFASSUNG

Pflanzen und Arthropoden sind zentrale Bestandteile der biologischen Vielfalt und übernehmen wichtige Ökosystemfunktionen. Starke Verluste in der Anzahl und Diversität von Gefäßpflanzen und terrestrischen Arthropoden werden in Europa und weltweit beobachtet. Diese flächendeckenden Rückgänge sind nicht auf bestimmte Lebensräume beschränkt, sondern finden sogar in Schutzgebieten statt. Wirksamere Methoden für die Erhaltung und Förderung von Biodiversität in Kulturlandschaften sind daher dringend notwendig. Klima- und Landnutzungswandel sind große Bedrohungen für die biologische Vielfalt und Ökosysteme. Diese Faktoren stehen miteinander in Wechselwirkung, sodass sich Effekte von Klima und Landnutzung auf Artengemeinschaften gegenseitig verstärken oder auch abmildern können. Welche Rolle diese Stressoren für die Rückgänge von Pflanzen und Insekten spielen, ist jedoch nicht genau bekannt. Darüber hinaus gibt es vielerlei Interaktionen zwischen Pflanzen- und Arthropodengemeinschaften. Dazu gehören zum einen Nahrungsbeziehungen, aber auch der integrative Aspekt der Vegetation, die die lokale Umwelt abbildet und formt, welche von Arthropoden wahrgenommenen wird. Wie stark diese Faktoren die Zusammenhänge zwischen Pflanzen- und Insektengemeinschaften bestimmen, ist unklar.

Ziel der Dissertation ist es, die Auswirkungen von Klima und Landnutzung auf Pflanzen- und Arthropodengemeinschaften zu untersuchen und das Verständnis der Beziehungen zwischen diesen Artengruppen zu verbessern. Dazu werden Korrelationsmuster zwischen Pflanzen und Arthropoden auf der Ebene von Artenzusammensetzung, Artenvielfalt und Biomasse analysiert. Weiterhin werden die Mechanismen hinter diesen Korrelationen im Hinblick auf direkte und integrative Aspekte der Vegetation untersucht. In einer umfangreichen Feldstudie in Bayern wurden Gefäßpflanzen und terrestrische Arthropoden entlang unabhängiger Klimaund Landnutzungsgradienten erfasst. Die Versuchsflächen repräsentierten typische Lebensräume temperater Regionen in Europa (Wald, Grünland, Ackerland, Siedlungsgebiet). Der Einsatz von Malaise-Fallen und Metabarcoding ermöglichte es ein breites Spektrum trophischer und taxonomischer Gruppen zu analysieren. Zur Erfassung der Pflanzendaten erfolgten Vegetationsaufnahmen an den Fallenstandorten sowie Transektkartierungen in der weiteren Umgebung der Versuchsflächen.

Publikation 1 untersucht die Effekte von Pflanzenzusammensetzung, Klima und Landnutzung auf die Artenzusammensetzung der Arthropoden und analysiert, welche Aspekte der Vegetation die Beziehungen zwischen Pflanzen- und Arthropodengemeinschaften bestimmen. Die Artenzusammensetzung der Pflanzen erklärte den größten Anteil an Varianz in der Zusammensetzung der Arthropodenarten, während die Landnutzung ein weiterer wichtiger Faktor war. Die lokalen Umweltbedingungen, die die Pflanzen widerspiegeln und durch Zeigerwerte quantifizierbar sind, hatten dabei eine höhere Relevanz als direkte Nahrungsbeziehungen zwischen Pflanzen- und Arthropodenarten. Diese Ergebnisse heben die Bedeutung der Vegetation als Surrogat für lokale Habitatbedingungen hervor, welche durch direkte Umweltmessungen kaum erfassbar sind.

Publikation 2 betrachtet die Bedeutung der Pflanzenvielfalt als Indikator für Arthropodenvielfalt und bewertet den Einfluss von Habitatmenge und Landschaftskonfiguration auf die Artenvielfalt von Pflanzen und Arthropoden. Über alle trophischen Gruppen hinweg war die Vielfalt der Arthropodenarten stark korreliert mit der Vielfalt an Zeigerpflanzen für geschützte Biotope. Die Anzahl der Pflanzenarten der Roten Liste wirkte sich positiv auf die Anzahl der Arthropodenarten der Roten Liste sowie die Anzahl der Tagfalterarten aus. Insgesamt hatte die Vielfalt naturschutzrelevanter Pflanzenarten einen stärkeren Effekt auf die Arthropodenvielfalt als die Menge an naturnahem Habitat oder die Landschaftskonfiguration. Die Pflanzenartenvielfalt selbst wurde hauptsächlich durch die lokale Landnutzung bestimmt, wobei die Gesamtartenzahl in Siedlungen und die der Biotopzeigerarten in Wäldern am höchsten ausfiel. Die Ergebnisse betonen die hohe Bedeutung von Waldflächen einschließlich ihrer Lichtungen und Waldränder für den Schutz von Pflanzen- und Arthropodenarten sowie die Notwendigkeit für Erhaltung und Wiederherstellung von Flächen mit hoher Habitatgualität in landwirtschaftlichen und besiedelten Räumen.

Publikation 3 untersucht die Effekte von Klima und Landnutzung auf Biomasse und Artenvielfalt von Arthropoden. Ergänzend dazu wurden im Rahmen der Dissertation auch die Effekte von Pflanzenbiomasse und -vielfalt analysiert. Sowohl Biomasse als auch Artenvielfalt der Arthropoden war positiv mit den lokalen Temperaturen assoziiert und erreichten die höchsten Werte in Waldflächen. Während die Biomasse in Siedlungsflächen am geringsten ausfiel, wurden die niedrigsten Artenzahlen im Ackerland gemessen. Weder die Pflanzenbiomasse noch die Pflanzenvielfalt wirkten sich auf die Biomasse der Arthropoden aus. Die Studie stellt sowohl die intensive Landwirtschaft als auch die Urbanisierung als Hauptfaktoren für die Rückgänge in der Arthropodenfauna heraus. Die zum Teil gegensätzlichen Reaktionen von Arthropoden-Biomasse und -Artenvielfalt legen nahe, dass diese Maße nicht als gleichwertige Indikatoren für Biodiversität betrachtet werden sollten.

Die übergreifende Diskussion fasst die Ergebnisse der drei Publikationen zusammen und erörtert die Erkenntnisse vor dem Hintergrund des anhaltenden Artensterbens, der Klimaerwärmung und des Landnutzungswandels. Ferner werden methodische Grenzen der Arbeit aufgezeigt. Basierend auf den Ergebnissen werden Handlungsempfehlungen für Naturschutz und Monitoring von Pflanzen und Arthropodenvielfalt in mitteleuropäischen Landschaften abgeleitet.

8

GENERAL INTRODUCTION

Significance of plants and arthropods in terrestrial ecosystems

Plants and arthropods are fundamental components of biodiversity, and they provide key functions in all terrestrial ecosystems. As primary producers, plants form the basis of terrestrial food webs and life on land, taking up carbon dioxide from the atmosphere and converting it to sugars and oxygen through photosynthesis. A large number of animal species directly affect plant material, thereof half a million herbivorous insects (Hardy et al., 2020) consuming wood or foliage, sucking plant sap or feeding on pollen and nectar. Further, vegetation structures provide the physical habitat for countless organisms. Living and dead plants serve as oviposition and nesting sites, building material, shelter and hibernation places for animals, while also providing habitat for other plants, lichens and fungi. Moreover, plants reflect and modulate the conditions of their surrounding environment and thus determine the habitat for themselves and other organisms. Vegetation structure controls the microclimate through shading and transpiration, thus influencing ground-level and soil temperatures, light availability and air humidity (Chen et al., 1999), while also affecting air flow and wind speed through plant morphology (Leenders et al., 2007). Forests, for example, develop tall and dense canopies that have a significant impact on the microclimate, e.g. by buffering temperature extremes and thus modulating responses of understory species to macroclimatic warming (De Frenne et al., 2013, 2019). Besides, plants influence soil properties including chemistry, structure and microbial activity through their root systems, and by releasing nutrients through leaf fall (Mitchell et al., 2010; Pastor & Cohen, 1997; Yu et al., 2017).

Arthropods are among the most diverse and abundant groups of organisms on earth, including numerous taxonomic groups across multiple trophic levels. Insects contribute the largest fraction of biomass and species numbers of the global terrestrial arthropod fauna (Rosenberg et al., 2023; Stork, 2018), most of them belonging to five orders, i.e. Coleoptera, Lepidoptera, Diptera, Hymenoptera and Hemiptera (Stork, 2018). Insects and other terrestrial arthropods play critical roles for many ecosystem processes. They are vital for plant reproduction, with about 80% of all flowering plant species depending on pollination by flower-visiting insects (Ollerton et al., 2011). In addition, many plant species rely on seed dispersal by ants (Handel & Beattie, 1990). Detritivores such as saproxylic beetles or carrion-breeding flies are key drivers for the decomposition of dead organic matter. Furthermore, terrestrial arthropods are major components of food webs, including a great diversity of herbivores, predators and parasitoids, while also serving as staple food sources for birds and other animals (Morse, 1971).

Plant and arthropod declines in the past decades

Severe losses in biodiversity are happening across the globe (van Klink et al., 2020; Wagner, 2020). In many regions of Central Europe, local declines in species richness were reported particularly for terrestrial arthropods (Barendregt et al., 2022; Habel et al., 2019a; Seibold et al., 2019), but also for plants (Eichenberg et al., 2020; Jandt et al., 2022; Wesche et al., 2012). One of the most-cited studies in this context is that of Hallmann et al. (2017), describing a reduction of 76% in flying-insect biomass over 27 years based on Malaise-trap data from 63 locations in northwestern Germany. Remarkably, all of these sites were located within protected areas of different habitat types, which suggests that insect declines are a large-scale phenomenon also concerning areas where habitat quality is expected to be high. This is confirmed by recent studies that show reductions in arthropod richness and abundance both in agricultural areas and forests (Seibold et al., 2019; Staab et al., 2023). The declines are especially pronounced for specialists (Abrahamczyk et al., 2020; Scheper et al., 2014) and species with restricted habitat ranges (Neff et al., 2022). A recent analysis of long-term abundance trends of insect species in Bavaria reported declines of species protected by the EU habitat directive since its implementation (Engelhardt et al., 2023), in spite of the goal to maintain and improve the conservation status of these species. Likewise, evidence for declines of common and abundant plant and arthropod species is growing (Jansen et al., 2020; Seibold et al., 2019; Wagner et al., 2021).

Taken together, these findings suggest that the current European conservation practices are not sufficient to maintain biodiversity in human-dominated landscapes (Engelhardt et al., 2023). To counteract further losses in species diversity and abundance, more effective conservation strategies are needed that also address normal landscapes, in addition to preserving existing high-quality habitats, which are often small and isolated (Habel et al., 2019a, 2019b). To develop such strategies, it is important to understand the broad-scale drivers of plant and arthropod communities across land-use gradients and to assess the causes of the widespread biodiversity declines.

Effects of climate and land use on plant and arthropod communities

Both climate and land use are main determinants of biodiversity, species distribution and community composition. Distribution patterns of plant species strongly depend on climatic conditions such as temperature, humidity and continentality (Berg et al., 2017; Woodward & Williams, 1987). Thus, plant species composition changes along climate gradients (Otýpková et al., 2011; Zellweger et al., 2017), while regional plant species richness is positively correlated with temperature and water availability (Currie, 1991; Moser et al., 2005; Pausas et al., 2003). Arthropods strongly respond to climatic conditions as well, since they are ectothermic organisms that rely on environmental heat sources (Sears & Angilletta, 2015).

Local temperature determines activity, growth, survival and fecundity of arthropods (Angilletta, 2009), thus being an important driver of species richness and abundances (Hallmann et al., 2017; Pilotto et al., 2020), as well as community composition (Lessard et al., 2011; Uhey et al., 2020).

Although higher temperatures per se promote local plant diversity (Govaert et al., 2021; Steinbauer et al., 2018) and arthropod richness, particularly favoring thermophilic species (Engelhardt et al., 2022), climate warming threatens biodiversity in multiple ways (Harvey et al., 2023). Long-term increases in temperature lead to geographical and phenological range shifts (Boggs, 2016; Chen et al., 2011) and decoupling of biotic interactions (e.g. Schweiger et al., 2008), which results in habitat loss for cold-adapted species (Engelhardt et al., 2022; Neff et al., 2022) and destabilization of entire communities and ecosystems (Harvey et al., 2023). In addition, increases of extreme weather events due to climate change, such as heavy rainfalls, droughts and late frost, have negative effects on population dynamics, leading to higher extinction risks for local and regional populations of numerous species (Harvey et al., 2020; McLaughlin et al., 2002; Thomas et al., 2004).

Human-dominated landscapes that prevail in Central Europe largely consist of agricultural areas including crop fields and grassland, as well as managed forests and settlements, whereas undisturbed natural or semi-natural habitats cover only minor proportions. Within local land-use types, management practices such as timber harvest, mowing or the use of agrochemicals directly affect plant and arthropod communities (Gossner et al., 2016; Penone et al., 2019), but also modify their habitat conditions including vegetation structure, microclimate, soil conditions and nutrient supply (Chen et al., 1999; Duprè et al., 2010). Plant and arthropod communities thus change along gradients of land-use intensity and differ among land-use types (Birkhofer et al., 2017; Blake et al., 2003; Gossner et al., 2016; Weiner et al., 2011). At the landscape scale, the relative proportions of land-use types ('landscape composition') determine the amount of available habitat for plant and arthropod communities, while the spatial arrangement of land-use types ('landscape configuration') controls the connectivity between habitat patches within the landscape matrix, i.e. the chances for organisms to move between suitable habitats (Fahrig, 2013, 2017). Both landscape composition and configuration are thus important factors that influence plant and arthropod diversity and community composition (Concepción et al., 2012; Martin et al., 2019; Steckel et al., 2014). However, these variables are not independent of each other and thus often positively or negatively correlated (Redlich et al., 2021). Landscapes with high edge density, which is commonly used as a measure for landscape configuration, often provide high amounts of semi-natural habitat as well (Fig. 1), whereas edge density is typically low in landscapes with high proportions of forest. However, studies that are designed in a way that reduces confounding effects between landscape composition are lacking.



Fig. 1: (a) Example of a structurally rich landscape with a high proportion of semi-natural habitats such as extensively managed grassland, hedges and orchards (south of Bayreuth, Upper Franconia) and **(f) a cleared, intensively used landscape** (north of Würzburg, Lower Franconia), **with (b–e, g–j) species representing typical ecosystems of both landscapes**. (b) *Polyommatus bellargus* and (c) *Dianthus carthusianorum* are typical for dry grasslands; (d) *Vincetoxicum hirundinaria* and (e) *Araschnia levana* occur in forest edges and clearings; (g) *Sisymbrium officinale* and (h) *Thlaspi arvense* represent vegetation of arable land; (i) *Pieris brassicae* and (j) *Trifolium pratense* are widespread species that also occur in intensively used grasslands.

Land-use change has severely impacted the composition and structure of European landscapes during the past decades, with profound consequences for biodiversity and ecosystems (Newbold et al., 2015). Agricultural land-use intensification, that involves increases in the use of pesticides and fertilizer, higher mowing frequency, the conversion of grassland into cropland and the drainage of wetlands, led to widespread losses and fragmentation of habitats (Foley et al., 2005; Warren et al., 2021). Thus, high-quality habitats such as semi-natural grassland, hedges or set-aside areas have been greatly reduced in agricultural landscapes (Fig. 1). In addition, many of the remaining fragments of low-nutrient sites suffer from nitrogen deposition causing eutrophication of open (Duprè et al., 2010; Stevens et al., 2004; Wesche et al., 2012) and forest habitats (Roth, 2022; Verheyen et al., 2012). Likewise, forest practices caused habitat fragmentation through the removal of important structural elements such as old trees and dead wood (Müller et al., 2015; Whitehouse, 2006). In addition to land-use intensification, land abandonment has negative effects on biodiversity, particularly for semi-natural grasslands that depend on a certain level of disturbance through regular mowing or grazing (Uchida & Ushimaru, 2014; Uematsu et al., 2010). Beyond stressors related to agriculture and forest management, urbanization significantly contributes to habitat and biodiversity losses, e.g. through increases in sealed surfaces (Scalenghe & Marsan, 2009), chemical pollution of soil, air and water (Wagner et al., 2021), and artificial lighting at night (Owens et al., 2020).

Both land-use and climate change are major threats to biodiversity and ecosystems (Sala, 2000; Wagner et al., 2021). Many studies show that land-use associated drivers contribute to reductions in arthropod biomass and richness (Allan et al., 2014; Habel et al., 2019b; Hallmann et al., 2017; Seibold et al., 2019) and plant species richness (Jansen et al., 2020), while also causing biotic homogenization of plant and arthropod communities (Deguines et al., 2016; Gossner et al., 2016). Likewise, negative biodiversity trends are increasingly associated with climate change, with higher temperatures driving declines of cold-adapted insect species (Fitzgerald et al., 2021; Neff et al., 2022), while higher climatic variability reduces plant species richness and destabilizes plant communities (Zhang et al., 2018). Local extinctions of many plant and insect species across the globe are related to increases in maximum temperatures (Román-Palacios & Wiens, 2020).

Effects of climate and land-use change on biodiversity are interacting (Oliver & Morecroft, 2014), and the combination of both factors can reinforce, but also counterbalance their impacts on species communities (Fox et al., 2014). Thus, high maximum temperatures may exacerbate effects of habitat loss and fragmentation (Mantyka-Pringle et al., 2012), while in other cases, warmer conditions may be beneficial when habitat amount is limited (Müller et al., 2015). In turn, adverse effects of climate change may be reinforced at high levels of land-use intensity or landscape fragmentation (e.g. de Vries et al., 2012; Oliver et al., 2013), but mitigated by

high amounts of (semi-)natural habitat or nature-friendly land-use practices (Oliver et al., 2016; Outhwaite et al., 2022). Investigating independent and combined effects of climate and land use on biodiversity is therefore a major challenge. Although long-term studies are essential for assessing species trends, the explanatory contributions of climate and land-use change including their interactions are hard to assess, as the associated variables are often correlated (Neff et al., 2022; Peters et al., 2019). Thus, much uncertainty exists about the relative importance of these factors in driving plant and arthropod diversity declines and community shifts (Didham et al., 2020; Wagner et al., 2021), but such knowledge is needed to predict future changes and to develop conservation strategies that mitigate further losses (Redlich et al., 2021).

Relationships between plant and arthropod communities

Beyond the responses of plant and arthropod communities to climate and land use, many dependencies and interactions exist between these species groups. Based on data from an extensive observational field study including assessments of plant and arthropod communities along orthogonal gradients of climate and land use (Redlich et al., 2021), the PhD thesis analyses correlation patterns between plant and arthropod communities at the scale of species composition, species richness and biomass. These correlations may be the result of different mechanisms that drive plant-arthropod relationships, and can be separated into direct and indirect links.

Direct links

Vegetation as food resource: Phytophagous arthropods consume living or dead parts of plants, including wood, foliage, sap, seeds, fruits, pollen and nectar. Different degrees of specialization exist: Monophagous species feed on one single plant species or genus, oligophagous species feed on few different plant species or genera, and polyphagous species use many plant species and genera as food resources (Bernays & Graham, 1988). Feeding strategies may vary during a species' life cycle, as for example many butterflies are highly specialized as larvae, but feed on larger spectra of plant species as adults. The majority of phytophagous insects are mono- or oligophagous (Hardy et al., 2020; Ward & Spalding, 1993), mostly due to the chemical properties of the plant biomass (Pastor & Cohen, 1997). Phyllophagous insects that feed on foliage tend to be more specialized than flower-visiting insects consuming pollen and nectar (Castagneyrol & Jactel, 2012; Fontaine et al., 2009; but see Kawakita et al., 2010).

Vegetation as habitat structure: Vegetation provides habitat structures that arthropods require during their life cycle. These can be considered at different scales: At the species level, the fine-scale architecture of individual plants may influence the movement and abundance of arthropods (Crist et al., 1992; Dennis, 2004), while these physical structures are usually less

species-specific than host plants, as the morphology of plants may be typical of a particular species but not unique to it (Beals, 2006). Plant species assemblages build up vegetation structures that shape the three-dimensional space in which arthropods move and live. Vegetation structure is thus closely related to plant species composition (Schaffers et al., 2008), and strongly depends on land-use intensity and management schemes, such as mowing regimes or the type of forestry. It is commonly measured as height, density, or structural heterogeneity of ground vegetation or forest stands (Lengyel et al., 2016; Müller & Brandl, 2009; Schaffers et al., 2008; Zellweger et al., 2016). Plant communities determine vegetation structures, and they are summarized to vegetation formations that constitute general habitats such as forest or grassland, which correspond to land-cover classes as assessed by remote sensing (e.g. CLMS, 2018). Both vegetation type and structure strongly determine the microclimatic conditions including light availability and local temperature (Müller & Brandl, 2009; Prather & Kaspari, 2019; Suggitt et al., 2011).

Indirect links

Vegetation indicating and modulating habitat quality: As sessile organisms, plants are closely adapted to their respective abiotic site conditions. Plant communities change along gradients of climate, light and soil resources. For the European flora, Ellenberg indicator values are 'pseudo-quantitative' measures to describe these habitat conditions (Ellenberg et al., 1991). In addition, vegetation itself modulates habitat quality, e.g. by creating microclimatic gradients (Prather & Kaspari, 2019; Suggitt et al., 2011) and altering soil properties (Mitchell et al., 2010; Pastor & Cohen, 1997; Yu et al., 2017). Thus, arthropods are indirectly linked to vegetation in the sense that they respond to their local environment, which is both reflected and shaped by the plant communities.

Trophic cascades: Another indirect dependency between arthropods and plants exists via trophic effects propagating through food webs. Predatory or parasitoid arthropods feed on phytophagous insects, thus linking plant communities with arthropods of higher trophic levels via their prey (Scherber et al., 2010). Although this aspect modulates the responses of arthropod communities to vegetation, it is not studied further within the thesis.

Current scientific knowledge

Overall, the relationships between plant and arthropod communities have been addressed by many studies, but most of them show some deficits. The study design often does not sufficiently account for the underlying environmental variables including abiotic gradients, habitat amount or landscape configuration, which may drive correlations between plants and arthropods due to shared responses of communities to these variables (Bucher et al., 2019; van Schalkwyk et al., 2019). Thus, the independent effects of vegetation on arthropod communities after controlling for environmental factors and variables related to land use have

rarely been quantified. Studies that considered this point suffer from other restrictions, as they included only a small range of arthropod taxa and trophic levels (Müller et al., 2011; Sanderson et al., 1995; Zellweger et al., 2017), or were limited to single habitat types and small study areas (Schaffers et al., 2008; Uhl et al., 2020; van Schalkwyk et al., 2019). Furthermore, most publications focus on the relationships between plant species richness and the richness or abundance of various arthropod groups (Castagneyrol & Jactel, 2012; Moreira et al., 2016), although species richness represents only one aspect of biodiversity, and ignores differences in species composition of plants and arthropods, which is a less investigated topic (Schaffers et al., 2008).

Species composition: Previous studies that assessed correlations between plant and arthropod assemblages reported strong effects of vegetation composition on arthropod species composition (e.g. Müller et al., 2011; Sanderson et al., 1995; Schaffers et al., 2008; Zellweger et al., 2016). Müller et al. (2011) tested the role of trophic interactions in driving these effects. Although plant species composition explained a high amount of variance in the composition of specialist herbivores, this could not be attributed to the presence of their associated host plants (Müller et al., 2011). Similarly, Schaffers et al. (2008) found that a simplified plant dataset, i.e. summarized to characteristic species groups, performed equally well in explaining patterns in the species composition of herbivore and carnivore arthropods as a detailed plant dataset containing the full information at the species level. These findings suggest that direct links between plant and arthropod species may play a subordinate role in explaining correlations between plant and arthropod assemblage composition. In turn, the integrative character of plant communities reflecting the local habitat conditions of arthropods could be a more significant factor that determines such patterns. However, to what extent these mechanisms drive the relationships between plant and arthropod communities of different trophic levels remains largely unknown (Müller et al., 2011; Schaffers et al., 2008).

Species richness: Positive correlations between plant and arthropod species richness are frequently reported across different habitat types and trophic levels. Particularly herbivores show strong responses to plant species richness (Castagneyrol & Jactel, 2012; Scherber et al., 2010), but positive effects are also found for higher trophic arthropod groups (Haddad et al., 2009; Schuldt et al., 2019). Depending on the studied taxa, several pathways may explain these effects:

- Higher plant species richness provides a greater diversity of food resources, which promotes the species richness of primary consumers that are specialized on different host plants (*Resource Specialization Hypothesis*; Keddy, 1984; Moreira et al., 2016);

16

- Higher plant species richness promotes plant productivity, increasing the abundance of herbivores, which in turn results in a higher species richness of herbivores (*More Individuals Hypothesis*; Moreira et al., 2016; Srivastava & Lawton, 1998)
- Higher plant species richness increases the range and heterogeneity of available habitat niches, favoring a higher number of arthropod species requiring specific habitat structures (Joern & Laws, 2013; Schuldt et al., 2019);
- Increases in the richness of secondary consumers with the number of plant species are mediated by cascading bottom-up effects of plant species richness through herbivore richness and abundance (Castagneyrol & Jactel, 2012; Haddad et al., 2009; Scherber et al., 2010);
- Both plant and arthropod richness show similar responses to environmental gradients, such as climate, soil conditions or land-use variables (Bucher et al., 2019; van Schalkwyk et al., 2019).

Although these hypotheses are frequently discussed when explaining correlations between plant and arthropod diversity, their actual contribution in driving these relationships is unclear (Moreira et al., 2016). This is partly due to the fact that plant species richness is often correlated with other variables such as the amount of available habitat or landscape heterogeneity (Billeter et al., 2008; Uhl et al., 2020). Furthermore, most studies only consider the responses of arthropods to overall plant species richness, although not all plant species are equally important for promoting arthropod richness, particularly in modified landscapes with high proportions of non-native vegetation, such as or arable land or urban areas (Perre et al., 2011; Salisbury et al., 2015). Subsets of indicator species that are characteristics for high-quality habitats might thus be more suitable surrogates to estimate arthropod richness. Yet, the relevance of these subsets for predicting arthropod richness compared to total plant species richness is unclear, and may also vary depending on the investigated taxa and trophic groups. While the richness of primary consumers may be more strongly correlated with overall plant species numbers representing a greater diversity of food resources, higher trophic groups such as predators, which are often habitat specialists (Woodcock & Pywell, 2010), may rather respond to overall habitat quality reflected by indicator plants.

Biomass: Arthropod biomass is influenced by the amount of captured individuals, the number of species as well as their body sizes. It is therefore only a rough measure of biodiversity, but still allows to derive information on the general state of the local entomofauna (Hallmann et al., 2017). Results from field experiments showed positive responses of arthropod biomass and abundance to plant biomass (Borer et al., 2012) and plant species richness (Scherber et al., 2010). However, the positive effects of plant species richness seemed to be more driven by plant productivity that increases with plant species numbers (Borer et al., 2012; Haddad et al., 2011) than by the diversity of food resources or habitat niches increasing arthropod abundance

through higher species richness (but see Scherber et al., 2010). However, these experimental approaches ignored further environmental effects such as local climate, land use or habitat quality, which may vary considerably under real conditions. High plant productivity often coincides with high land-use intensity, which reduces arthropod biomass, e.g. through the use of pesticides, thus counteracting positive effects of plant productivity. Furthermore, a field study in riparian forests of North America found that resource quality (i.e. the proportion of deciduous vegetation) was a more important predictor for nocturnal insect biomass than the amount or diversity of plant resources (Ober & Hayes, 2008). Similarly, Hallmann et al. (2017) found positive responses of arthropod biomass to tree species richness, but not to herb species richness. Thus, the amount of semi-natural vegetation determining habitat quality seems an important driver of arthropod biomass. However, representative field studies that explore the influence of plant productivity and habitat quality on arthropod biomass are lacking.

OBJECTIVES AND OUTLINE

The PhD thesis is based on data from an extensive correlative field study carried out in Bavaria, Southern Germany. Vascular plants and terrestrial arthropods were sampled along orthogonal gradients of climate and land use (Fig. 2). The study sites covered typical habitat types of temperate Europe (forest, grassland, arable land and settlement), and were embedded in three contrasting landscape types (forest-dominated, agricultural, urban). The obtained arthropod data covered a broad range of taxonomic groups and trophic levels.

The aim of the thesis is to improve the understanding of the relationships between plant and arthropod communities as well as the relative importance of climate and land-use variables for both species groups. These aspects are analyzed based on correlation patterns between plants and arthropods at the level of species composition, species richness and biomass. In addition, the mechanisms behind these relationships are explored, including direct and integrative aspects of vegetation. Specifically, the following objectives and hypotheses are addressed:

- 1. Determine the importance of vegetation, climate and land use to arthropod species composition, species richness and biomass
 - ⇒ The importance of vegetation for arthropod species composition and richness is expected to differ among trophic groups of arthropods, with stronger effects on primary consumers than on secondary consumers.
- 2. Disentangle direct and integrative effects of vegetation on arthropod assemblage composition
 - Direct trophic links between herbivores and host plants should be more relevant in determining the species composition of primary consumers, while local habitat conditions reflected and shaped by plant species composition should be more important for higher trophic groups.
- Test the suitability of plant species richness as a proxy for arthropod species richness and biomass
 - Plants indicating high habitat quality should be a better predictor for arthropod species richness and biomass than total plant species richness

These points are examined within three publications included in this thesis (Fig. 2).

The overall discussion of the thesis summarizes the results of the three publications. The findings are discussed in the context of ongoing biodiversity losses, climate warming and landuse change, and study limitations and further research perspectives are outlined. Based on the results, recommendations for the conservation and monitoring of plant and arthropod diversity are derived.



Fig. 2: Graphical overview of the thesis showing the key aspects of the study design and the main contents of Publications 1-3. The multi-scale design covers orthogonal gradients of climate and landscape-scale land use as well as four local land-use types in which the study sites were established. The datasets on vascular plants and terrestrial arthropods collected on these sites are the basis of the three publications. Publication 1 focuses on the relationships between plant and arthropod species composition and disentangles which aspects of vegetation are relevant in shaping arthropod communities. Publication 2 addresses effects of plant species richness on arthropod richness and investigates the importance of habitat quality, habitat amount and landscape configuration. Publication 3 focuses on the responses of arthropod biomass and richness to climate and land use considering both small- and large-scale effects. The effects of plant biomass and richness on arthropod biomass were included in an additional analysis within this thesis, complementary to the findings of Publication 3.

METHODS

All data used for the publications within this thesis were acquired within the framework of the joint LandKlif project (https://www.landklif.biozentrum.uni-wuerzburg.de), aimed at understanding and disentangling the effects of climate and land use on biodiversity and ecosystem services at multiple spatial scales. The project included an extensive field campaign carried out in 2019 and 2020 throughout the State of Bavaria in Southern Germany.

Study design

The LandKlif project is built on an innovative sampling design that allowed assessing biodiversity data along orthogonal gradients of climate and land use at both local and landscape scale (Redlich et al. 2021). Based on topographical map quadrants of ca. 5.8 km x 5.8 km grid cell size, the state of Bavaria was stratified into five climate zones and three landscape-scale land-use types (urban, agricultural and forest-dominated), hereafter named 'landscape types'. One quadrant represents a quarter of a map sheet of the German ordnance map at the scale of 1:25.000 (TK25). These quadrants are commonly used for floristic and faunistic grid mapping (Ehrendorfer & Hamann, 1965). The climate zones were defined based on mean annual temperature values for the period 1981–2010 (<7.5, 7.5–8.0, 8.1–8.5, 8.5–9.0, >9 °C). The land-use types were classified based on CORINE land cover data (urban >14% settled area or traffic infrastructure; agriculture >40% arable land or managed grassland; near-natural i.e. forest-dominated >85% near-natural vegetation and >50% forest; Redlich et al., 2022; CLMS, 2018). Four replicates of each combination of climate zone and landscape type resulted in a selection of 60 quadrants distributed across Bavaria (Fig. 3).

Within each quadrant, three study sites were established in the prevalent local land-use types (forest, arable field, grassland and settlement). Wherever possible, the sites were selected such that the correlation between landscape composition (i.e. area percentages of land-use types) and landscape configuration (i.e. edge density) was minimized (Redlich et al., 2021).



Fig. 3: Sampling design of the PhD thesis on regional and local drivers of plant and arthropod communities. Distribution of 60 quadrants (5.8 km x 5.8 km) across Bavaria, representing five climate zones and three landscape types (forest-dominated, agricultural, urban), each containing three study sites representing the prevailing local land-use types (forest, grassland, arable land, settlement).

Each site consisted of an open patch of herbaceous vegetation of 3 m x 30 m size within or next to the respective local land-use type. Specifically, forest sites were set up within clearings or forest glades and sites representing arable land on field margins. Sites within settlements were mostly located in green areas such as cemeteries or public green spaces, sometimes also in undeveloped real estate or private gardens. One site could not be established due to denial of landowner permission, resulting in a total set of 179 sites (instead of 180 as intended by the study design).



Fig. 4: Examples of study sites representing the four local land-use types investigated for the PhD thesis. Sites were standardized to open areas with herbaceous vegetation within a) forest, b) grassland, c) arable land and d) settlement.

Vegetation survey

Vegetation sampling took place in two field campaigns. In 2019, vegetation was assessed within seven subplots ($10m^2$ in total) within each 3 m x 30 m plot. All vascular plant species were listed and cover values of each species was estimated using the Braun-Blanquet scale (Dierschke, 1994). In addition, cover of different strata (trees, shrubs, herbs and grasses, moss, litter, bare rock) was estimated for each subplot. Each study site was visited once between mid-May and end of July 2019. In the same year, aboveground plant biomass was sampled within each 3 m x 30 m patch. Vegetation was cut at ground level within three randomly selected quadrats of 20 cm x 20 cm size. Each study site was sampled once between May and July 2019. The samples were oven-dried and their dry weight was measured with a precision scale.

In 2020, plant species pools were assessed during transect walks in 200-m buffer areas around the study sites, leading along existing roads and tracks (smaller ones were preferred), similar to the methodology of the Swiss Biodiversity Monitoring (Koordinationsstelle BDM, 2014). Each buffer was visited once between mid-May and early-August 2020. All plant species within sight were mapped while slowly walking along predefined routes that were chosen such that they covered the dominant land-cover types within the buffers (forest, agriculture including grassland and arable land, as well as settlement area; water bodies and traffic areas were ignored). Walking time was standardized to 60 min and proportional to the named land-cover

percentages within the circle. Area percentages below 10% were not considered. Land-cover data were obtained from a combined map containing information from CORINE Land Cover (CLMS, 2018), ATKIS 2019 (German Official Topographic-Cartographic Information System) and IACS 2019 (Integrated Administration and Control System).

For all analyses performed for Publication 1 and 2, plant species data of both surveys (2019 and 2020) were aggregated into a single presence-absence dataset. This was done in order to represent the plant species pools surrounding the Malaise traps as completely as possible, as the captured arthropod species reached the trap from various distances.

Arthropod survey

Arthropods were sampled using Malaise traps, with ethanol (80%) as capture fluid. The traps matched the Townes Malaise trap model, however, with a black roof and slightly smaller dimensions (for details, see Uhler et al. 2021). Malaise traps are known to capture a high diversity of arthropod species mainly consisting of flying insects, while also non-flying arthropods may crawl into the trap from the ground (Karlsson et al., 2020; Uhler et al., 2022). Where applicable, the traps were placed orthogonally to vegetation structures that determined insect flight corridors. On each study site, one Malaise trap was set up from mid-April 2019 to mid-August 2019. Traps were emptied every two weeks, resulting in eight sampling rounds per site. Individual sampling intervals varied slightly due to logistic reasons. Vegetation close to the trap entrance was cut regularly during the sampling period.

Each Malaise trap sample was sieved and its weight determined at the moment when the time between two drops of ethanol reached ten seconds (Uhler et al., 2021). Out of 1432 possible samples, 93 were not collected due to delayed sampling start or breakdown of the traps, and three samples were lost after weighing. Thus, 1339 samples were considered in the biomass analyses (Publication 3), and 1336 in the analyses addressing arthropod species richness and composition (Publication 1 and 2).

Arthropod species were identified via DNA-metabarcoding, based on CO1-5P (mitochondrial cytochrome oxidase 1). BINs (Barcode Index Numbers) were used as taxonomic units, based on the Barcode of Life Data System (BOLD; Ratnasingham & Hebert, 2007). BINs are clusters of DNA sequences that show close concordance with species (Ratnasingham & Hebert, 2013). For more details on the bioinformatics methods, see Uhler et al. (2021) and Hausmann et al. (2020). For the analyses of Publication 2, arthropod data from all eight sampling rounds were pooled, containing presence-absence data of all BINs (hereafter referred to as 'species') identified in the traps throughout the season. In Publication 1 and 3, only three sampling rounds (second half of May, June and July, respectively) were included to calculate arthropod species

richness, because the remaining samples were sequenced after these manuscripts were written.

Local temperature and humidity

During Malaise trap sampling, temperature and humidity on the study sites were measured hourly using ibutton thermologgers. The loggers were fixed on a wooden pole at 1.1 m height above ground, facing north. For the analyses in Publication 3, mean temperature and humidity values were calculated for each study site, based on the trap-specific sampling intervals (Uhler et al., 2021).

Data analyses

All statistical analyses were conducted with R Versions 4.0.3 and 4.2.0 (R Core Team, 2022). Spatial data processing including the calculation of land-cover percentages and edge density was done in ArcGIS Pro. Statistical methods mainly involved variance partitioning, mixed effect models, and general additive models, depending on the research questions. Table 1 provides an overview of the methods used in each publication including the independent and explanatory variables. In all analyses of Publication 2 and 3, model coefficients were extracted using *cftest* (package *multcomp*; Hothorn et al., 2008), and significant differences from multiple post-hoc comparisons between land-use categories were obtained with function *glht* (package *multcomp*; Hothorn et al. 2008).

In **Publication 1**, variance partitioning (function *varpart*, package *vegan*; Oksanen et al. 2020) was used to assess the responses of arthropod species composition to plant species composition, Ellenberg indicator values, land cover and climate, additionally including latitude and longitude of the study sites to account for spatial autocorrelation. This method partitions the variation in community data using adjusted R^2 in distance-based redundancy analysis (RDA; Borcard et al., 1992). Presence-absence data of plants and arthropod groups were therefore transformed into distance matrices using the Sorensen coefficient (Legendre & Legendre, 2012; Sørensen, 1948). Distance matrices of all other explanatory variables were created using Euclidean distances. All Ellenberg indicator values considered in the analysis (light, temperature, continentality, moisture, soil pH and nutrient values) were included in one predictive distance matrix calculated based on the relative frequencies of the respective values in each category. In addition, the multivariate correlation of arthropod composition to single categories of Ellenberg values were quantified using Mantel tests (function mantel, package vegan; Oksanen et al., 2020; Legendre & Legendre, 2012). Finally, the responses of arthropod composition to a subset of plant species known to be hosts of monophagous insects were tested against randomly selected plant subsets using t-tests.

In **Publication 2**, mixed effect models (functions *Imer* and *glmer.nb*, package *Ime4*; Bates et al. 2015) were used to investigate the effects of plant species richness, temperature and landuse related variables on arthropod species richness. To account for the nestedness of the study sites, quadrant (containing three study sites) was set as a random term. Significant differences between local land-use categories and landscape types were tested with the *glht* function in the *multcomp* package (Hothorn et al., 2008). Explained variance (adjusted R² values) of the predictors as well as marginal and conditional R² values of the models were calculated using the *glmm.hp* package (Lai et al., 2022). Normality and homoscedasticity of the model residuals were validated using the *DHARMa* package (Hartig, 2022).

In **Publication 3**, generalized additive models (package mgcv; Wood, 2004) were calculated to assess effects of land use and climate variables on arthropod richness and biomass. In contrast to Publication 1 and 2, arthropod data were not pooled for the entire sampling season, but were analyzed at the level of single samples taken at approximately two-week intervals. The models accounted for seasonality, variation in sampling intervals, spatial autocorrelation, and repeat measurements on each study site (Uhler et al., 2021). Further, correlations between arthropod richness and biomass were assessed using linear mixed effect models with study site as a random factor, considering four taxonomic orders (Diptera, Hymenoptera, Coleoptera, Orthoptera) as well as a group containing all other taxa. Both arthropod richness and biomass were log-transformed in these models.

Within this thesis, further analyses were conducted in addition to Publication 3, considering the responses of arthropod biomass to plant biomass and plant species richness (Appendix A1). For each study site, the mean daily biomass collected throughout the complete sampling season was calculated as target variable. The mean dry weight of plant biomass was based on the three samples of each study site. The effects of plant biomass and plant species richness on arthropod biomass and richness were tested using linear mixed effect models using the same methods as described for Publication 2, further including local temperature and humidity, as well as local and landscape-scale land use as fixed factors, and quadrant as a random term. Likewise, the effects of land use and local climate on plant biomass were tested (Appendix A1).

	Publication 1	Publication 2	Publication 3
Target variables	Arthropod species composition ¹	Arthropod species richness Plant species richness	Arthropod biomass Arthropod species richness ¹
Explanatory variables	Plant species composition Ellenberg indicator values Land-cover percentages Climate variables ² Space (coordinates of the study sites)	Plant species richness Semi-natural area Mean annual summer temperature (May- September) Edge density Local land use ⁴ Landscape-scale land use ⁵	Mean annual temperature and precipitation Local temperature and humidity ³ Local land use ⁴ Landscape-scale land use ⁵
Statistical methods	Variance partitioning (distance-based redundancy analysis) Mantel tests T-tests	Mixed effect models Post-hoc tests	Generalized additive models Mixed-effect models Post-hoc tests
Arthropod groups considered	<i>Functional groups:</i> Herbivores, Pollinators, Predators, Parasitoids, Detritivores. <i>Taxonomic orders:</i> Lepidoptera, Coleoptera, Hymenoptera, Diptera.	All arthropods Red-listed arthropods <i>Functional groups:</i> Herbivores, Predators, Parasitoids, Detritivores. <i>Taxonomic groups:</i> Butterflies, Cicadas, True bugs, Beetles, Hoverflies, Wild bees.	All arthropods ¹ Red-listed arthropods ¹

Table 1: Variables and methods used in the data analyses for the three publications included in the thesis. All long-term climate data were obtained for the period 1991–2020.

¹Subset of three out of eight sampling rounds (second half of May, June and July, respectively)

²Including elevation a.s.l. of the study sites, mean annual summer temperature and precipitation (May– September), and mean annual temperature range (difference between January and July temperatures)

³Measured with data loggers placed on the study sites during arthropod sampling 2019

⁴Factor with four levels: forest, grassland, arable land, settlement

⁵Factor with three levels: forest, agriculture, urban

SUMMARY OF PUBLICATIONS

Publication 1: Plant species composition and local habitat conditions as primary determinants of terrestrial arthropod assemblages

Tobisch, C., Rojas-Botero, S., Uhler, J., Müller, J., Kollmann, J., Moning, C., Brändle, M., Gossner, M.M., Redlich, S., Zhang, J., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Benjamin, C., Englmeier, J., Fricke, U., Ganuza, C., Haensel, M., Riebl, R., Uphus, L., Ewald, J., 2023. Plant species composition and local habitat conditions as primary determinants of terrestrial arthropod assemblages. *Oecologia*.

Author contributions

Jörg Müller (JM), Jörg Ewald (JE) and Cynthia Tobisch (**CT**) conceived the idea of this manuscript. Ingolf Steffan-Dewenter (ISD), JM, Jie Zhang (JZ) and Sarah Redlich (SR) developed the overall study design. **CT**, Sandra Rojas-Botero (SRB), Johannes Uhler (JU), JE, Johannes Kollmann (JK), Christoph Moning and JM designed the methods of plant and arthropod surveys. **CT**, SRB, JU, Caryl Benjamin, Jana Englmeier, Ute Fricke, Cristina Ganuza, Maria Haensel, Martin Brändle, Martin M. Gossner, Rebekka Riebl, SR and Lars Uphus collected or provided data. **CT** analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript; all authors critically commented on the manuscript.

Graphical abstract



Fig. 5: Graphical abstract of Publication 1 presenting the resulted pathways that mainly determine the relationships between plant and arthropod species composition (A). This includes the integrative aspect of vegetation indicating local habitat conditions that are quantified by Ellenberg indicator values (B). Variance in arthropod species composition was partitioned among plant species composition and the other environmental drivers to compare the explanatory power of the predictors for the studied groups covering different trophic levels (C).

Summary

Arthropod communities may be linked to vegetation in different ways, with plants serving as food resources, building physical habitat structures and reflecting habitat conditions. Yet, to what extent these mechanisms drive correlations between plant and arthropod assemblages is unclear. In addition, the relative importance of vegetation compared to other environmental drivers such as climate and land use for arthropod species composition of different trophic levels are not well studied. **Publication 1** investigates the independent and combined effects of plant species composition, climate and land use on arthropod species composition and explores how different aspects of vegetation affect arthropod assemblages.

According to the LandKlif design, vascular plants and terrestrial arthropods were sampled along orthogonal gradients of climate and land use on 179 study sites across Bavaria in Southern Germany. Arthropod species were captured using Malaise traps and determined by DNA-Metabarcoding. Plant species pools were assessed within 200-m buffers around the trap locations. Using variance partitioning based on dissimilarity matrices, the responses of arthropod composition to plant species composition, climate and land cover as well as to the combined effects of the predictors were assessed. Further, Ellenberg indicator values and a subset of host plants of specialized insects were included to evaluate the contribution of direct trophic relationships and local habitat conditions in explaining arthropod composition. Four taxonomic orders (Lepidoptera, Coleoptera, Hymenoptera and Diptera) and five functional groups (herbivores, pollinators, predators, parasitoids and detritivores) were considered as target groups.

Plant species composition was an important predictor for arthropod species composition in all investigated groups, and shared a significant fraction of explained variance with land-cover composition. Including Ellenberg indicator values in the analysis revealed that the local habitat conditions indicated by vegetation – particularly temperature and light availability – were more relevant in determining arthropod composition than direct relationships at the species level, i.e. between single arthropod species and their associated host plants. Explained variance of vegetation in arthropod composition showed no consistent decrease towards higher trophic levels. Plant species composition had indeed stronger effects on herbivores and pollinators than on parasitoids and detritivores, but responses of predators were most pronounced.

The results point out the strong integrative character of plant communities reflecting the habitat conditions of arthropods across various taxa and trophic levels. Plants may thus serve as valuable surrogates to assess such habitat conditions that are otherwise hard to detect by physico-chemical measurements. The findings suggest that climate and land-use change altering small-scale environmental conditions may likely lead to shifts in arthropod community composition.

Publication 2: Conservation-relevant plant species indicate arthropod richness across trophic levels: Habitat quality is more important than habitat amount

Tobisch, C., Rojas-Botero, S., Uhler, J., Kollmann, J., Müller, J., Moning, C., Redlich, S., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Benjamin, C., Englmeier, J., Fricke, U., Ganuza, C., Haensel, M., Riebl, R., Uphus, L., Ewald, J., 2023. Conservation-relevant plant species indicate arthropod richness across trophic levels: Habitat quality is more important than habitat amount. Ecological Indicators 148, 110039.

Author contributions

Cynthia Tobisch (CT) and Jörg Ewald (JE) conceived the idea of the manuscript. Ingolf Steffan-Dewenter, Jörg Müller (JM) and Sarah Redlich (SR) developed the overall study design. CT, Sandra Rojas-Botero (SRB), Johannes Uhler (JU), JE, Johannes Kollmann (JK), Christoph Moning (CM) and JM designed the methods of plant and arthropod surveys. CT, SRB, JU, Caryl Benjamin, Jana Englmeier, Ute Fricke, Cristina Ganuza, Maria Haensel, Rebekka Riebl, Sarah Redlich and Lars Uphus collected data. CT analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript. All authors commented on the manuscript.



Graphical abstract



Key result:

Richness of plants indicating protected biotopes promotes arthropod richness

 \Rightarrow Habitat quality matters more than habitat amount or landscape configuration B) Richness of biotope-indicator plants



Fig. 6: Graphical abstract of Publication 2 showing the significance of different plant species groups as indicators for arthropod richness (A) and the distribution of biotope-indicator plant richness among local land-use types (B).

Summary

As reports on arthropod losses in European landscapes are increasing, there is strong need to understand the causes of species declines and to develop efficient monitoring and conservation strategies. Plant species richness has often been suggested as indicator for the species richness of other taxa, but evidence on correlations between plant and arthropod diversity is mixed. Furthermore, studies assessing the partial effects of plant species richness, climate, land-use intensity and landscape characteristics on arthropod richness are lacking. **Publication 2** investigates the significance of plant species richness as indicator for arthropod species richness while comparing the effects of overall plant species pools and subsets of conservation-relevant plant species. Besides, it addresses the relevance of climate and land-use variables including habitat amount and landscape configuration for plant and arthropod richness.

Vascular plants and terrestrial arthropods were surveyed on the 179 study sites in Bavaria, representing different land-use types and climate zones defined within the LandKlif design. Malaise traps were used for arthropod sampling and plants were surveyed within 200-m buffer areas around the trap locations. Correlations between local species richness of plants and arthropods were assessed, while distinguishing between three plant groups (all species, red-listed species and biotope-indicator species) and twelve arthropod groups representing various taxa and trophic levels. Linear mixed effect models were used to assess partial effects of plant species richness, climate and land-use related drivers including habitat amount and landscape configuration (i.e. edge density) at different scales. Likewise, the responses of plant species richness to the named environmental variables were evaluated.

Species richness of most arthropod groups was strongly correlated with species numbers of plants indicating protected biotopes, and species numbers of red-listed arthropods and butterflies were best predicted by red-listed plant species richness. Comparing the effects of the studied predictors, plant species richness was more important for arthropod richness than the amount of semi-natural habitat (except for cicadas, true bugs and beetles). Edge density of the surrounding land-use types had no significant effects on arthropod richness. Local land use mainly determined overall plant species richness, with highest total species numbers found in settlements. In contrast, the richness of biotope-indicator plants was greatest in forest gaps and areas where edge density and the amount of semi-natural habitat types, but positively responded to edge density at the landscape scale.

The findings show that conservation-relevant plant species such as red-listed plants, but particularly plants indicating protected biotopes, have great potential for monitoring habitat quality and diversity of arthropod across multiple taxa and trophic levels. Forests and clearings

play an important role for plant and arthropod diversity, while the conservation of semi-natural habitats is needed to maintain and improve habitat quality in agricultural and urban landscapes.

Publication 3: Relationships of insect biomass and richness with land use along a climate gradient

Uhler, J., Redlich, S., Zhang, J., Hothorn, T., **Tobisch, C.**, Ewald, J., Thorn, S., Seibold, S., Mitesser, O., Morinière, J., Bozicevic, V., Benjamin, C.S., Englmeier, J., Fricke, U., Ganuza, C., Haensel, M., Riebl, R., Rojas-Botero, S., Rummler, T., Uphus, L., Schmidt, S., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Müller, J., 2021. Relationship of insect biomass and richness with land use along a climate gradient. *Nature Communications* 12, 5946.

Author contributions

Jörg Müller (JM), Johannes Uhler (JU), Sarah Redlich (SR) and Sebastian Seibold (SS) perceived the idea of this manuscript. JM, Ingolf Steffan-Dewenter ISD and Jie Zhang (JZ) designed the experiment. JU, SR, **Cynthia Tobisch**, Caryl Benjamin, Jana Englmeier, Ute Fricke, Cristina Ganuza, Maria Haensel, Rebekka Riebl, Sandra Rojas-Botero and Lars Uphus collected data. Torsten Hothorn, Oliver Mitesser, JM and JU analyzed the data. Simon Thorn and JZ designed the graphs. JU, JM, SS, SR and ISD wrote the first manuscript draft and finalized the manuscript. All authors commented on the manuscript.

Graphical abstract



Fig. 7: Graphical abstract of Publication 3 showing effects of local land use (left) and climate (right) on arthropod biomass and richness as well as relationships between these predictors (bottom right).

Summary

Agricultural land-use intensification involving pesticide loads and reductions of habitat amount and quality is often reported as main cause of arthropod biodiversity losses occurring across Europe. However, declines in arthropod biomass and richness are not restricted to agricultural areas, but occur independent of local land-use intensity. Thus, the role of intensified agriculture in driving these declines compared to other factors such as climate change is still unclear. Moreover, separating the effects of climate and land use on species trends is difficult, as these drivers are often correlated in space and time. In addition, climate and land use may affect arthropods at different scales. However, studies with a suitable design to address these issues are lacking. **Publication 3** investigates the responses of arthropod biomass and richness to climate and land use including local and large-scale effects. Further analyses carried out within this thesis assess the relative importance of plant biomass and richness for arthropod biomass, adding to the findings of Publication 3.

Following the multi-scale study design developed within the LandKlif project, vascular plants and terrestrial arthropods were sampled on 179 study sites along orthogonal gradients of climate and land use throughout the Federal State Bavaria. Arthropod biomass was determined and species were identified via Metabarcoding. Plant biomass was sampled at the trap locations and species pools were surveyed within 200-m radii around the study sites. Generalized additive models were used to obtain partial effects of macro- and microclimate as well as local and landscape-scale land-use categories including their combinations. The models accounted for effects of season, sampling duration, repeated measurements and spatial arrangement of the study sites.

Arthropod biomass, overall species richness and red-listed species numbers positively responded to local temperatures measured on the study sites during the sampling season. Arthropod biomass and richness followed different seasonal patterns and varied in their responses to land-use categories. While overall species richness and particularly threatened species numbers were lowest in arable land, biomass was lowest in urban habitats. Forest sites contained highest species numbers and biomass values. Similar patterns were observed at the landscape scale, albeit differences between landscape types were less pronounced than those between local habitats. Additional analyses showed that arthropod biomass was independent of plant biomass and plant species richness (Appendix A1). Local land use strongly influenced local climate, as temperatures were higher towards increasing land-use intensity, although these variables independently affected arthropod richness and biomass.

The findings point out the role of urbanization as a major driver of arthropod declines in addition to agricultural intensification, and emphasize the significance of forests for the conservation of arthropod populations. Positive effects of local temperatures on all target variables suggest that warmer conditions still largely promote arthropod diversity and biomass within the studied region, albeit negative impacts of climate change, e.g. through extreme weather events, are likely to increase particularly in agricultural and urban environments.

DISCUSSION

Given the severe declines in arthropod biomass and diversity (Hallmann et al., 2017; Seibold et al., 2019) as well as plant diversity (Eichenberg et al., 2020; Jandt et al., 2022), there is a strong need to understand the causes of these losses and to implement effective measures that maintain and promote biodiversity in cultural landscapes. The objective of the publication-based dissertation was to determine the relative importance of climate and land-use effects for plant and arthropod communities, and to improve the understanding of plant-arthropod relationships at a macro-ecological scale.

Publication 1 (Tobisch et al., 2023b) investigated the independent and combined effects of plant species composition, climate and land use on arthropod species composition, and explored which aspects of vegetation contribute to the relationships between plant and arthropod assemblages. These included direct trophic links and responses of arthropods to habitat conditions mediated by vegetation. **Publication 2** (Tobisch et al., 2023a) addressed the significance of plant species richness as indicator for arthropod species richness and evaluated the relative importance of climate, land use and landscape characteristics for plant and arthropod biomass and richness to climate and land use at the local and landscape scale. Complementary to this publication, an additional analysis within this thesis assessed the relative importance of plant biomass and richness for arthropod biomass (Appendix A1).

The main findings of the three publications are summarized in **Fig. 8**. The results are reviewed in the context of available literature and discussed with respect to current global trends including biodiversity losses, climate and land-use change. Further, methodological restrictions relating to study design and data sampling are outlined and recommendations for conservation management are derived.



Fig. 8: Main findings of the PhD thesis displaying the primary determinants of arthropod species composition, richness and biomass as assessed in Publications 1–3.

Effects of climate and land use on plant and arthropod communities

The diversity and composition of plant and arthropod communities strongly depend on climatic conditions. In line with earlier literature (Hallmann et al., 2017; Pilotto et al., 2020), temperature significantly increased local arthropod richness and biomass (Publications 2–3) and showed positive effects on total plant species richness (Publication 2). However, Publication 1 did not detect correlations between macroclimatic variables and the composition of plant or arthropod communities, in contrast to other studies that observed significant shifts in local plant and arthropod composition along climatic gradients (Bässler et al., 2010; Govaert et al., 2021; Zellweger et al., 2017). Local land-use effects might have masked responses of species composition to climate. Temperatures measured on the study sites differed significantly between local land-use types, increasing from forests to agricultural to urban areas (Supplementary Table 2 in Publication 3). In addition, local temperature was a more important determinant of total arthropod richness and biomass than long-term mean annual temperatures (Publication 3). This shows that microclimatic conditions are an important driver of arthropod communities, which is consistent with earlier studies (Müller et al., 2020; Prather & Kaspari, 2019; Rebaudo et al., 2016). Effects of microclimate on arthropod species

composition can also be observed through plant communities, as shown in Publication 1; among the local habitat conditions displayed by vegetation through Ellenberg indicator values, temperature and light values showed the highest correlations with arthropod species composition.

These findings are relevant with respect to current climate change and land-use alterations. Climate change modifies microclimatic conditions through increasing temperatures, thus leading to shifts in vegetation composition. This was shown by De Frenne et al. (2013) who observed significant increases in the dominance of warm-adapted species ('thermophilization') in temperate forests of Europe and North America during the past decades. Such processes may be reinforced locally through forest management, with higher wood harvest activities leading to increased canopy openings that raise ground-level temperatures (Blumröder et al., 2021). However, the overall tree growth and forest densities in temperate forests are increasing due to climate warming, eutrophication and changes in management regimes (Gold et al., 2006; McMahon et al., 2010; Rautiainen et al., 2011). Thus, macroclimate warming can be buffered through increased canopy closure that moderates thermophilization effects (De Frenne et al., 2013). Likewise, this results in a decrease in light-demanding species, as shown by Verheyen et al. (2012). Buffering effects are not only driven by local stand density, but can also be observed at the landscape scale through increased forest cover, as recently shown by Borderieux et al. (2023) for temperate forests in France. They found that the average thermal optimum of understory plant communities was significantly lower within forested landscapes compared to landscapes with low forest cover, albeit forest cover was also correlated with soil conditions.

Publications 2–3 did not detect negative effects of high temperatures on arthropod species richness or biomass. Another analysis of Malaise trap data collected throughout Germany also showed overall increases of arthropod biomass with temperature, but this effect turned negative when temperatures exceeded long-term averages during hot summer months (Welti et al., 2022). Moreover, long-term studies observed declines in cold-adapted insect species associated with increasing temperatures (Fitzgerald et al., 2021; Neff et al., 2022). As insects are generally thermophilic, it is plausible that there are currently more species that benefit from warmer temperatures than those threatened by climate warming, resulting in overall positive responses of arthropod populations to temperature in Publications 2–3. However, a related Publication based on the same Malaise trap dataset found that higher temperature led to more homogeneous communities of pollinating insects at the landscape scale (Ganuza et al., 2022). These findings clearly indicate that plant and arthropod communities will shift under future climate change, and highlight the role of forests as important refuges particularly for cold-adapted plant and arthropod species.

Local land use was a main determinant of plant and arthropod communities, affecting species composition, species richness and biomass (Publications 1–3, Appendix A1 Fig. A2). Importantly, arthropod biomass differed in its responses to land use. While both arthropod richness and biomass were highest in forest clearings, the lowest species numbers were observed in arable land, whereas the lowest biomass amounts were measured in settlements. This underscores the role of urbanization as a major driver of arthropod declines, along with intensive agriculture. Recent studies confirmed negative impacts of urbanization on arthropod populations. Svennigsen et al. (2022) found negative correlations between flying-insect biomass and urban cover based on car net samples across broad land-use gradients in Denmark and northern Germany. Likewise, consistent decreases in arthropod diversity and abundance along urbanization gradients have been observed for multiple taxonomic and functional groups (Fenoglio et al., 2020; Piano et al., 2020), probably due to high levels of disturbance and expansion of sealed area leading to losses of habitat and connectivity (Fenoglio et al., 2020).

In turn, certain arthropod groups may benefit from urban environments. For instance, species richness of Hymenoptera was higher in cities compared to rural sites studied in Eastern Germany (Theodorou et al., 2020) and Great Britain (Baldock et al., 2015). This is probably due to higher habitat heterogeneity and availability of floral and nesting resources provided in urban areas, even though much of the flora in cities is exotic (Perre et al., 2011). Comparing arthropod species richness between local land-use types in Publication 2 showed that species numbers in settlements are often similar to, or even exceed those in forests, as was the case for bees and cicadas (Supplementary Fig. S5 in Publication 2). However, it should be noted that the study sites within settlements were not selected based on the amount of ambient urban cover. In fact, they were surrounded by high proportions of either forest, agriculture or urban area, due to the nested study design covering different types of landscape-scale land-use intensity (Redlich et al., 2021). Therefore, urban study sites were rather heterogeneous, being located in meadows within small agricultural villages as well as in cemeteries within larger cities, where they were surrounded by high proportions of green area. Despite negative impacts of urbanization, these findings show that urban areas can harbor high arthropod diversity in some taxonomic groups, even if total biomass is low.

In most arthropod groups, the lowest species numbers were found in arable land (Supplementary Fig. S5 in Publication 2). This is in line with recent studies reporting that temporal declines in arthropod richness and abundances were most severe in agricultural landscapes with high land-use intensity in Germany (Seibold et al., 2019) and worldwide (van Klink et al., 2020). From a global perspective, these findings support that land-use change is the major driver of biodiversity losses, and negative impacts of land use currently still outweigh those of climate (Díaz et al., 2019). Importantly, land use threatens biodiversity not only

through changing intensity, such as land abandonment, conversion of grassland to cropland, or increases in the frequency of agronomic measures. Likewise, the continuity and repetition of unfavorable management practices further reduce biodiversity from year to year through additive effects (Blüthgen et al., 2022). Therefore, it is essential to preserve high-quality habitats as important sources of biodiversity in anthropogenic landscapes (Habel et al., 2019a; Outhwaite et al., 2022; Steckel et al., 2014). This is supported by Publications 2–3, showing the highest biomass and species richness of arthropods on sites surrounded by forest, which represents the lowest land-use intensity in the studied region. High amounts of natural or semi-natural habitat may to a certain extent mitigate negative effects of intensive land use as well as climate change (Outhwaite et al., 2022). In turn, small patches of natural or semi-natural habitat surrounded by intensive agriculture are not sufficient to prevent arthropod declines, as shown by Hallmann et al. (2017).

Plant–arthropod relationships

Publications 1–2 showed that vegetation is a prime determinant for the species composition and species richness of terrestrial arthropods in cultural landscapes of Central Europe. Arthropod species composition strongly responded to plant species composition, but also to the combined effect of plant species composition and land cover (Publication 1). Arthropod richness was mainly driven by plant species richness – specifically the number of plant species associated with high-quality habitats - and temperature (Publication 2). Earlier studies identified vegetation as a strong driver of arthropod assemblages (Schaffers et al., 2008; Zellweger et al., 2017) and richness (Schuldt et al., 2019; Uhl et al., 2020), but these effects also varied depending on taxonomic groups and trophic levels (Bucher et al., 2019; Haddad et al., 2009). Contrary to expectations, correlations between plant and arthropod communities did not clearly decrease towards higher trophic levels. Plant species composition had less strong effects on the composition of parasitoids and detritivores than that of herbivores and pollinators, but showed the strongest effects on predator assemblages (Publication 1). Plant species richness had strong effects on the richness of herbivores, parasitoids and detritivores, while the effect on predator richness was less pronounced (Publication 2). Previous studies found that correlations between plant and arthropod communities were strongest for primary consumers directly depending on plants as food resources, while effects were less pronounced for detritivores and secondary consumers, i.e. predators and parasitoids (Castagneyrol & Jactel, 2012). However, Publication 1 revealed that direct trophic relationships only played a minor role in driving correlations between plant and arthropod species composition. Instead, these correlations were more driven by the local habitat conditions depicted by vegetation composition. Analyzing correlation patterns in species richness, Publication 2 found similar results, as subsets of plants indicating high-quality habitats led to stronger correlations

between plant and arthropod species numbers than the complete set of plant species. This was consistent across all trophic levels. Earlier studies already proposed that correlations between plant and arthropod communities are not the result of direct relationships at the species level (Müller et al., 2011; Schaffers et al., 2008). Certainly, specialized species rely on the occurrence of their host plant. However, as discussed in Publication 1, specialists do not necessarily occupy the entire range of their host plants (Bogusch et al., 2020; Quinn et al., 1998). Further, habitat requirements of specialized insects are often complex, going beyond the availability of food resources (Stewart & New, 2007). Thus, entire plant communities likely summarize habitat conditions of these species more effectively than the pure information on host plant occurrence (Müller et al., 2011; but see Krämer et al., 2012).

The integrative nature of vegetation and its significance for arthropod communitites is meaningful in several ways. As described in Publication 1, plant communities reflect multivariate ecological gradients that describe local habitat conditions of arthropods, and that can be interpreted via Ellenberg indicator values. This is particularly relevant to assess how environmental gradients determine patterns in arthropod assemblage composition. Moreover, Publication 2 showed that vegetation can serve as a valuable surrogate to estimate arthropod species richness, but this depends on the selection of plant species. Most studies that investigated correlations between plant and arthropod species richness included the entire set of sampled plant species, with mixed support for the adequacy of plant species richness as surrogate for arthropod richness (Billeter et al., 2008; Bucher et al., 2019; Haddad et al., 2009; Scherber et al., 2010; Uhl et al., 2020). As demonstrated in Publication 2, a subset of plant species that characterizes high-quality habitats significantly improves the indicator value of plant species richness for arthropod richness across trophic levels. Importantly, this variable was more important for most arthropod groups than the amount of high-quality habitat or edge density. This is in line with earlier studies finding that local habitat quality was a more important determinant for the diversity of butterflies (Krämer et al., 2012), moths (Uhl et al., 2020) and wild bees (Rollin et al., 2019) than the composition or configuration of the surrounding landscape. However, these findings should not underestimate the importance of habitat amount and connectivity at the landscape scale. Evidence exists that these factors influence biodiversity patterns of multiple taxa (Concepción et al., 2012; Martin et al., 2019; Rösch et al., 2013; Steckel et al., 2014), and recent declines in arthropod richness and abundances have been linked to landscape-level drivers (Seibold et al., 2019). Indeed, Publication 2 showed that the number of plant species indicating protected biotopes was positively associated with the amount of semi-natural area and edge density in 1-km radius. This suggests that both habitat amount and connectivity at the landscape scale promote local habitat quality, which in turn benefits arthropod diversity.

In contrast to strong effects of vegetation on arthropod species richness and composition shown in Publications 1–2, arthropod biomass was not correlated with plant biomass or plant species richness (Appendix A1 Table A1). Experimental studies found strong effects of vegetation on terrestrial arthropod biomass, which were mainly due to increased productivity with higher plant species richness (Borer et al., 2012; Haddad et al., 2011). Such effects could not be detected in the observational dataset underlying the thesis. Other observational studies did not detect correlations between arthropod and plant biomass either (Hallmann et al., 2017; Ober & Hayes, 2008). Among local land-use types, plant biomass was highest in sites in arable land (i.e. within grass strips next to arable fields), although the difference was only significant compared to forests (Appendix A1, Fig. A2). Effects of intensive agriculture such as habitat loss, high disturbance rates and pesticide application in the surroundings of these sites probably cancelled out positive effects of plant productivity. Further, plant biomass was sampled directly on the study sites which were standardized to open patches of herbaceous vegetation. This was representative for the Malaise trap locations, but provided little information on the surrounding vegetation. For instance, samples taken within forest clearings underestimated the amount of plant biomass available to arthropods, as only ground-level vegetation was included.

Contrary to expectations, arthropod biomass was not associated to the number of biotopeindicator plants reflecting the presence of high-quality habitat (Appendix A1 Table A1). According to earlier studies, variables related to the canopy layer seem to be more important habitat components determining arthropod biomass, specifically tree species richness (Hallmann et al., 2017) and the proportion of deciduous canopy cover (Ober & Hayes, 2008). This matches the results of Publication 3, showing that arthropod biomass was highest in forest sites. Deciduous foliage is an essential source of nutrition for phytophagous and detritivorous insects, due to high nitrogen content and other chemical properties that contribute to palatability (Pastor & Cohen, 1997; Ober & Hayes, 2008 and references cited therein). Besides, canopy foliage provides a higher amount of food resources per area unit compared to ground-level vegetation. Thus, high forest cover, especially deciduous forest, promotes biomass of primary consumers, which in turn benefits higher trophic groups and contributes to higher overall arthropod biomass (Ober & Hayes, 2008; Scherber et al., 2010; Schuldt et al., 2019). This suggests that the quality of resources is a key determinant of arthropod biomass, rather than overall resource diversity or habitat quality reflected by biotope-indicator plants, which was, however, an important determinant of arthropod richness (Publication 2). As already discussed in Publication 3, the findings of the additional analyses confirm that arthropod biomass and species richness follow different patterns and should not be treated as equivalent biodiversity measures.

42

Methodological restrictions and further research perspectives

Due to the high number of study sites resulting in time and logistic constraints, species abundances could not - or only to a limited extent - be assessed during the sampling campaign. Arthropods were identified via DNA-Metabarcoding, which allows to process large amounts of samples within short time periods. Further, it provides the same level of identification for all groups of taxa, independent of how well the respective group is studied (Ratnasingham & Hebert, 2013). However, information on species abundance can only be derived from the number of reads, i.e. the number of times distinct DNA sequences were detected. This measure is strongly influenced by the size of the sampled arthropods, as larger individuals contain more DNA than small ones. Even though large and small individuals were treated as separate groups before extracting the DNA (Publication 3), the number of reads still can only be a rough estimate of relative abundances, which is why using occurrence data was preferred as a more reliable option (Deagle et al., 2019). Plant species abundances could only be assessed within ten square meters close to the Malaise traps. However, as the study sites were standardized to open patches of herbaceous vegetation, the plant communities therein did not always reflect the surrounding habitats. This was particularly the case for forests, but also for settlements that often contained highly heterogeneous vegetation. Therefore, and to account for the fact that arthropods may have reached the traps from various distances (Publication 1), plant data from the study sites was pooled with the presence-absence data collected during the transect walks within 200-m buffer areas around the sites. Thus, all analyses conducted within this thesis were based on presence-absence data. Information on species abundances would certainly have added further insights into plant and arthropod community structures. However, Wilson (2012) found that using abundance data in ordination of vegetation data is only useful when studying homogeneous communities across small scales, and that presence-absence data match even better with environmental conditions than abundance data. As the thesis is based on a large set of study sites covering broad environmental gradients, the sampled occurrence data well reflect principle patterns in the assemblage composition of plants and arthropods and their relationships to climate and land use, even without information on species abundances.

The findings of this thesis are based on an observational field study following a space-for-time approach, with study sites chosen such that they covered independent gradients of climate and land use (Redlich et al., 2021). Based on a large set of sampling locations representing typical landscapes of temperate regions, this approach allowed to assess independent and combined effects of both factors on biodiversity. Space-for-time studies certainly cannot replace long-term field observations. For instance, spatial analyses are not able to account for potential time lags in the responses of biodiversity to changes in climate or land use (Outhwaite et al., 2022). Further, local arthropod populations are subject to strong fluctuations that

DISCUSSION

encompass up to three orders of magnitude within few years (den Boer, 1985), due to demographic and environmental stochasticity (Melbourne & Hastings, 2008). As the arthropod data underlying the thesis were sampled within one season, it was not possible to consider inter-annual variation of the sampled populations or time-lag effects in the analyses. Such patterns can only be captured by long-term field observations or experiments. These provide important information on trends in species abundance and diversity, although existing evidence on arthropod trends across several decades is scarce and not well replicated (Blüthgen et al., 2022; Montgomery et al., 2020). Indeed, many long-term monitoring campaigns have recently been implemented, due to increased political interest and debate on biodiversity declines. However, to halt further biodiversity declines, it is less important to prove the statistical significance of temporal declines, but rather to understand the drivers of the present losses (Blüthgen et al., 2022). This can also be achieved by comparing locations within different land-use categories or along environmental gradients, as the potential causes of temporal declines can also be identified through the analysis of spatial patterns (Blüthgen et al., 2022). Finally, space-for-time approaches have the advantage that results are available after short time periods and can be implemented into conservation practice within few years.

The study design underlying this thesis allowed to compare the state of biodiversity between contrasting and well-replicated land-use categories. However, it was not possible to include more detailed variables on land-use intensity, such as the frequency of agricultural measures or the extent of light pollution in urban areas. Therefore, the exact mechanisms that determined the differences in arthropod biomass and richness between land-use categories found in Publications 2-3 remain to be tested. For instance, field experiments with a before-aftercontrol-impact (BACI) design controlling for differences in management within land-use types are a possible approach to build on the results, exploring which agricultural practices are most detrimental to arthropod richness in arable land and which aspect of urbanization causes low levels of arthropod biomass within settlement areas. Such frameworks may also be used to validate the findings of Publication 2 by implementing conservation measures aiming to improve habitat quality in agricultural landscapes, using biotope-indicator plants as a benchmark. Likewise, the research design did not cover the role of transitional habitats between the studied land-use types, which is particularly relevant for forest edges. As the forest sites were located within clearings that varied in size and structure, the question raises to which extent the presence of these ecotones contributed to the high average biomass and species numbers of arthropods found in forest sites (Publications 2–3). Further studies addressing this aspect will help to better understand the mechanisms through which forests promote biodiversity, and to derive appropriate management strategies.

Implications for conservation management

The findings of this thesis are relevant for biodiversity monitoring and conservation practice in Central Europe. As discussed in Publication 2, monitoring of arthropods is usually timeconsuming and causes high costs. It requires expert knowledge, which, depending on the taxonomic group, is often limited to few specialists. Novel methods of DNA sequencing, such as Metabarcoding, provide efficient and promising alternatives, but are still cost-intensive. Further, arthropods are killed during the sampling process, which is controversial especially in studies that explore insect declines and options to preserve and restore biodiversity. Indeed, there are promising technologies providing non-lethal methods to monitor arthropods, but this still requires further research and development (Rydhmer et al., 2022; van Klink et al., 2022). An alternative approach is the use of surrogate taxa. Publication 2 demonstrated that vegetation assessments provide a useful alternative to estimate arthropod species richness of a given area. Importantly, this does not require surveys of entire plant species pools. Instead, a subset of plants indicating protected biotopes emerged as a strong indicator for total arthropod species richness as well as the species richness of all trophic groups (Publication 2). Thus, plant lists that are used to characterize and determine protected biotopes can also be used as an approach to monitor arthropod biodiversity even in areas with high land-use intensity (Publication 2). In Europe, habitat mapping based on floristic information is a widely used method in conservation practice, particularly in the context of Natura 2000 based on the Habitats Directive (European Environment Agency, 2014). Thus, lists of plant species that characterize high-quality habitats are available for many European countries (European Environment Agency, 2014). The determination key for protected biotopes in Bavaria which was used in Publication 2 (Bayerisches Landesamt für Umwelt, 2020) is a positive example for such lists since it covers a wide range of habitat types present in Central Europe. These habitats can either be identified by few or single rare species or a combination of several more widespread species. Therefore, it is also applicable in areas of higher land-use intensity where rare species are hard to find (Publication 2).

Habitat quality depicted by conservation-relevant plant species was more important than the amount of semi-natural area surrounding the study sites (Publication 2). This emphasizes the need to preserve and restore high-quality habitats particularly in agricultural landscapes where habitat amount is limited (Habel et al., 2019a). Yet, small and isolated fragments of semi-natural area within a matrix of intensive agriculture are not sufficient to maintain arthropod populations in anthropogenic landscapes (Habel et al., 2016; Hallmann et al., 2017). To prevent further biodiversity losses, it is important to promote and re-establish biotope networks that connect forests, where biomass and species richness of arthropods is still highest (Publications 2–3), with habitat patches in the open landscape, such as hedgerows, orchards, semi-natural grassland or set-aside areas.

DISCUSSION

Agri-environmental schemes play an important role for maintaining biotope networks in agricultural regions. However, most agri-environmental measures are action-oriented, i.e. subsidies are based on their area size, while only few measures are result-oriented, i.e. payments depend on a specific outcome (Mack et al., 2020). Examples for result-oriented measures include the maintenance of species-rich grassland in agri-environmental programs of Bavaria (Bayerisches Staatsministerium für Ernährung, Landwirtschaft und Forsten, 2020) and Switzerland (Mack et al., 2020), where the occurrence of certain indicator plant species is used as a benchmark. Based on the findings of Publication 2, result-oriented subsidies should be increased in order to reward landowners for the establishment of high-quality habitats. This is supported by an extensive survey that questioned Bavarian farmers about their ideas for the improvement of agri-environmental schemes (Zindler, 2022). According to the answers, farmers wish for a stronger focus on result-oriented subsidies, likely due to higher flexibility and cost-effectiveness (Matzdorf & Lorenz, 2010). Thus, promoting success-based subsidies would both improve habitat quality in agricultural landscapes and raise the motivation of landowners to implement biodiversity-friendly measures.

CONCLUSION

Climate change and intensive land-use practices are major threats to biodiversity. There is strong need to understand how these factors drive the current declines in plant and arthropod populations, and to derive effective strategies that prevent further losses. The focus of this thesis was to investigate the effects of climate and land use on plant and arthropod communities and to explore plant–arthropod relationships at the macro-ecological scale. Based on an observational field study designed to separate effects of climate and land use, correlation patterns in species composition, species richness and biomass of plants and arthropods were analyzed.

Temperature positively affected total plant species richness and significantly increased arthropod species richness and biomass, indicating that critical temperature thresholds were not yet reached during the field study. In contrast, species composition of plants and arthropods was not driven by climate variables. However, arthropod assemblage composition was associated with local microclimate reflected by vegetation. Thus, species communities of plants and arthropods will likely shift under future climate change that alters microclimatic conditions. In this context, forests including clearings and fringes will play an important role in buffering effects of climate change particularly for cold-adapted species. Further, local land use was a strong driver of plant and arthropod communities, with significant effects on species composition, species richness and biomass of both groups. However, arthropod biomass and richness followed different patterns. Both variables were highest in forests, but biomass was lowest in urban areas and species richness was lowest in arable land. This supports the view that land-use intensity is currently the major threat to biodiversity in temperate landscapes, involving both urbanization and intensive agriculture as drivers of recent arthropod declines.

Vegetation was a main determinant of arthropod species richness and composition. However, the predictive power of plant communities showed no consistent trends along trophic groups. Instead, the integrative nature of vegetation reflecting local habitat conditions was an important factor driving the correlations between plant and arthropod communities across trophic levels, while direct relationships between arthropod and plant species appeared to be less relevant. Hence, the number of plant species indicating high-quality habitats emerged as a strong predictor for arthropod species richness. These findings emphasize the significance of habitat quality for maintaining arthropod biodiversity in anthropogenic landscapes and point out the need to preserve and restore biotope networks that connect forests as important biodiversity sources with semi-natural habitat patches in the open landscape. This may be promoted by shifting the focus of conservation policies from action-orientated towards success-orientated measures.

Given the severe biodiversity declines happening across Europe during the last decades, measures to halt further losses are urgently needed to maintain ecosystem functioning. Therefore, the findings of this thesis should be validated within further studies that implement conservation measures aiming to improve habitat quality in cultural landscapes. Importantly, such studies provide best practice examples for landowners and gain further evidence on how to effectively protect biodiversity in the face of climate change and land-use intensification.

REFERENCES

- Abrahamczyk, S., Wohlgemuth, T., Nobis, M., Nyffeler, R., & Kessler, M. (2020). Shifts in food plant abundance for flower-visiting insects between 1900 and 2017 in the canton of Zurich, Switzerland. *Ecological Applications*, 30(6), 02138. https://doi.org/10.1002/eap.2138
- Allan, E., Bossdorf, O., Dormann, C. F., Prati, D., Gossner, M. M., Tscharntke, T., Blüthgen, N., Bellach, M., Birkhofer, K., Boch, S., Böhm, S., Börschig, C., Chatzinotas, A., Christ, S., Daniel, R., Diekötter, T., Fischer, C., Friedl, T., Glaser, K., Hallmann, C., Hodac, L., Hölzel, N., Jung, K., Klein, A.-M., Klaus, V. H., Kleinebecker, T., Krauss, J., Lange, M., Morris, E. K., Müller, J., Nacke, H., Pasalic, E., Rillig, M. C., Rothenwöhrer, C., Schall, P., Scherber, C., Schulze, W., Socher, S. A., Steckel, J., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Türke, M., Weiner, C. N., Werner, M., Westphal, C., Wolters, V., Wubet, T., Gockel, S., Gorke, M., Hemp, A., Renner, S. C., Schöning, I., Pfeiffer, S., König-Ries, B., Buscot, F., Linsenmair, K. E., Schulze, E.-D., Weisser, W. W., & Fischer, M. (2014). Interannual variation in land-use intensity enhances grassland multidiversity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *111*(1), 308–313. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1312213111
- Angilletta, M. J. (2009). *Thermal Adaptation*. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780198570875.001.1
- Baldock, K. C. R., Goddard, M. A., Hicks, D. M., Kunin, W. E., Mitschunas, N., Osgathorpe, L. M., Potts, S. G., Robertson, K. M., Scott, A. V., Stone, G. N., Vaughan, I. P., & Memmott, J. (2015). Where is the UK's pollinator biodiversity? The importance of urban areas for flower-visiting insects. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 282(1803), 20142849. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2014.2849
- Barendregt, A., Zeegers, T., van Steenis, W., & Jongejans, E. (2022). Forest hoverfly community collapse: Abundance and species richness drop over four decades. *Insect Conservation and Diversity*, 15(5), 510–521. https://doi.org/10.1111/icad.12577
- Bässler, C., Müller, J., & Dziock, F. (2010). Detection of Climate-Sensitive Zones and Identification of Climate Change Indicators: A Case Study from the Bavarian Forest National Park. *Folia Geobotanica*, 45(2), 163–182. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12224-010-9059-4
- Bates, D., Martin Mächler, Ben Bolker, & Steve Walker. (2015). Fitting Linear Mixed-Effects Models Using Ime4. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 67(1), 148. https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v067.i01
- Bayerisches Staatsministerium für Ernährung, Landwirtschaft und Forsten. (2020). Merkblatt zum Bayerischen Kulturlandschaftsprogramm (KULAP) und zum Bayerischen Vertragsnaturschutzprogramm inkl. Erschwernisausgleich (VNP). Förderperiode 2021-2022/2025.
- Beals, M. L. (2006). Understanding community structure: A data-driven multivariate approach. *Oecologia*, 150(3), 484–495. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-006-0551-8
- Berg, C., Welk, E., & Jäger, E. J. (2017). Revising Ellenberg's indicator values for continentality based on global vascular plant species distribution. *Applied Vegetation Science*, 20(3), 482–493. https://doi.org/10.1111/avsc.12306
- Bernays, E., & Graham, M. (1988). On the Evolution of Host Specificity in Phytophagous Arthropods. *Ecology*, *69*(4), 886–892. https://doi.org/10.2307/1941237
- Billeter, R., Liira, J., Bailey, D., Bugter, R., Arens, P., Augenstein, I., Aviron, S., Baudry, J., Bukacek, R., Burel, F., Cerny, M., Blust, G., Cock, R., Diekötter, T., Dietz, H., Dirksen, J., Dormann, C., Durka, W., Frenzel, M., Hamersky, R., Hendrickx, F., Herzog, F., Klotz, S., Koolstra, B., Lausch, A., Le Coeur, D., Maelfait, J. P., Opdam, P., Roubalova, M., Schermann, A., Schermann, N., Schmidt, T., Schweiger, O., Smulders, M. J. M., Speelmans, M., Simova, P., Verboom, J., van Wingerden, W. K. R. E., Zobel, M., & Edwards, P. J. (2008). Indicators for biodiversity in agricultural landscapes: A pan-European study. 141–150. Journal of Applied Ecology, *45*(1), https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2007.01393.x

- Birkhofer, K., Gossner, M. M., Diekötter, T., Drees, C., Ferlian, O., Maraun, M., Scheu, S., Weisser, W. W., Wolters, V., Wurst, S., Zaitsev, A. S., & Smith, H. G. (2017). Land-use type and intensity differentially filter traits in above- and below-ground arthropod communities. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, *86*(3), 511–520. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.12641
- Blake, S., McCracken, D. I., Eyre, M. D., Garside, A., & Foster, G. N. (2003). The relationship between the classification of Scottish ground beetle assemblages (Coleoptera, Carabidae) and the National Vegetation Classification of British plant communities. *Ecography*, 26(5), 602–616. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-0587.2003.03491.x
- Blumröder, J. S., May, F., Härdtle, W., & Ibisch, P. L. (2021). Forestry contributed to warming of forest ecosystems in northern Germany during the extreme summers of 2018 and 2019. *Ecological Solutions and Evidence*, 2(3). https://doi.org/10.1002/2688-8319.12087
- Blüthgen, N., Staab, M., Achury, R., & Weisser, W. W. (2022). Unravelling insect declines: Can space replace time? *Biology Letters*, *18*(4), 20210666. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2021.0666
- Boggs, C. L. (2016). The fingerprints of global climate change on insect populations. *Current Opinion in Insect Science*, *17*, 69–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cois.2016.07.004
- Bogusch, P., Bláhová, E., & Horák, J. (2020). Pollen specialists are more endangered than non-specialised bees even though they collect pollen on flowers of non-endangered plants. *Arthropod-Plant Interactions*, 14(6), 759–769. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11829-020-09789-y
- Borcard, D., Legendre, P., & Drapeau, P. (1992). Partialling out the Spatial Component of Ecological Variation. *Ecology*, *73*(3), 1045–1055. https://doi.org/10.2307/1940179
- Borderieux, J., Gégout, J.-C., & Serra-Diaz, J. M. (2023). High landscape-scale forest cover favours cold-adapted plant communities in agriculture–forest mosaics. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, *32*(6), 893–903. https://doi.org/10.1111/geb.13676
- Borer, E. T., Seabloom, E. W., & Tilman, D. (2012). Plant diversity controls arthropod biomass and temporal stability. *Ecology Letters*, *15*(12), 1457–1464. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12006
- Bucher, R., Nickel, H., Kaib, S., Will, M., Carchi, J., Farwig, N., & Schabo, D. G. (2019). Birds and plants as indicators of arthropod species richness in temperate farmland. *Ecological Indicators*, *103*, 272–279. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2019.04.011
- Castagneyrol, B., & Jactel, H. (2012). Unraveling plant-animal diversity relationships: A metaregression analysis. *Ecology*, *93*(9), 2115–2124. https://doi.org/10.1890/11-1300.1
- Chen, I.-C., Hill, J. K., Ohlemüller, R., Roy, D. B., & Thomas, C. D. (2011). Rapid Range Shifts of Species Associated with High Levels of Climate Warming. *Science*, *333*(6045), 1024–1026. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1206432
- Chen, J., Saunders, S. C., Crow, T. R., Naiman, R. J., Brosofske, K. D., Mroz, G. D., Brookshire, B. L., & Franklin, J. F. (1999). Microclimate in Forest Ecosystem and Landscape Ecology: Variations in local climate can be used to monitor and compare the effects of different management regimes. *BioScience*, 49(4), 288–297. https://doi.org/10.2307/1313612
- CLMS. (2018). CLC 2018 (CORINE Land Cover): Copernicus Land Monitoring Service. https://land.copernicus.eu/pan-european/corine-land-cover
- Concepción, E. D., Fernández-González, F., & Díaz, M. (2012). Plant diversity partitioning in Mediterranean croplands: Effects of farming intensity, field edge, and landscape context. *Ecological Applications*, 22(3), 972–981. https://doi.org/10.1890/11-1471.1
- Crist, T. O., Guertin, D. S., Wiens, J. A., & Milne, B. T. (1992). Animal Movement in Heterogeneous Landscapes: An Experiment with Eleodes Beetles in Shortgrass Prairie. *Functional Ecology*, 6(5), 536–544. https://doi.org/10.2307/2390050
- Currie, D. J. (1991). Energy and Large-Scale Patterns of Animal- and Plant-Species Richness. *The American Naturalist*, 137(1), 27–49. https://doi.org/10.1086/285144
- De Frenne, P., Rodríguez-Sánchez, F., Coomes, D. A., Baeten, L., Verstraeten, G., Vellend, M., Bernhardt-Römermann, M., Brown, C. D., Brunet, J., Cornelis, J., Decocq, G. M., Dierschke, H., Eriksson, O., Gilliam, F. S., Hédl, R., Heinken, T., Hermy, M., Hommel,

P., Jenkins, M. A., Kelly, D. L., Kirby, K. J., Mitchell, F. J. G., Naaf, T., Newman, M., Peterken, G., Petrík, P., Schultz, J., Sonnier, G., Van Calster, H., Waller, D. M., Walther, G.-R., White, P. S., Woods, K. D., Wulf, M., Graae, B. J., & Verheyen, K. (2013). Microclimate moderates plant responses to macroclimate warming. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *110*(46), 18561–18565. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1311190110

- De Frenne, P., Zellweger, F., Francisco Rodríguez-Sánchez, Brett R. Scheffers, Kristoffer Hylander, Miska Luoto, Mark Vellend, Kris Verheyen, & Jonathan Lenoir. (2019). Global buffering of temperatures under forest canopies. *Nature Ecology & Evolution*, 3(5), 744–749. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-019-0842-1
- de Vries, F. T., Liiri, M. E., Bjørnlund, L., Bowker, M. A., Christensen, S., Setälä, H. M., & Bardgett, R. D. (2012). Land use alters the resistance and resilience of soil food webs to drought. *Nature Climate Change*, 2(4), Article 4. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate1368
- Deagle, B. E., Thomas, A. C., McInnes, J. C., Clarke, L. J., Vesterinen, E. J., Clare, E. L., Kartzinel, T. R., & Eveson, J. P. (2019). Counting with DNA in metabarcoding studies: How should we convert sequence reads to dietary data? *Molecular ecology*, 28(2), 391–406. https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.14734
- Deguines, N., Julliard, R., Flores, M., & Fontaine, C. (2016). Functional homogenization of flower visitor communities with urbanization. *Ecology and Evolution*, *6*(7), 1967–1976. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.2009
- den Boer, P. J. (1985). Fluctuations of density and survival of carabid populations. *Oecologia*, *67*(3), 322–330. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00384936
- Dennis, R. L. H. (2004). Just how important are structural elements as habitat components? Indications from a declining lycaenid butterfly with priority conservation status. *Journal* of Insect Conservation, 8(1), 37–45. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:JICO.0000027496.82631.4b
- Díaz, S., Settele, J., Brondízio, E. S., Ngo, H. T., Agard, J., Arneth, A., Balvanera, P., Brauman, K. A., Butchart, S. H. M., Chan, K. M. A., Garibaldi, L. A., Ichii, K., Liu, J., Subramanian, S. M., Midgley, G. F., Miloslavich, P., Molnár, Z., Obura, D., Pfaff, A., Polasky, S., Purvis, A., Razzaque, J., Reyers, B., Chowdhury, R. R., Shin, Y.-J., Visseren-Hamakers, I., Willis, K. J., & Zayas, C. N. (2019). Pervasive human-driven decline of life on Earth points to the need for transformative change. *Science*, *366*(6471), eaax3100. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aax3100
- Didham, R. K., Basset, Y., Collins, C. M., Leather, S. R., Littlewood, N. A., Menz, M. H. M., Müller, J., Packer, L., Saunders, M. E., Schönrogge, K., Stewart, A. J. A., Yanoviak, S. P., & Hassall, C. (2020). Interpreting insect declines: Seven challenges and a way forward. *Insect Conservation and Diversity*, *13*(2), 103–114. https://doi.org/10.1111/icad.12408
- Dierschke, H. (1994). Pflanzensoziologie: Grundlagen und Methoden. Eugen Ulmer.
- Duprè, C., Stevens, C. J., Ranke, T., Bleeker, A., Peppler-Lisbach, C., Gowing, D. J. G., Dise, N. B., Dorland, E., Bobbink, R., & Diekmann, M. (2010). Changes in species richness and composition in European acidic grasslands over the past 70 years: The contribution of cumulative atmospheric nitrogen deposition. *Global Change Biology*, *16*(1), 344–357. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009.01982.x
- Ehrendorfer, F., & Hamann, U. (1965). 8. Vorschläge zu einer floristischen Kartierung von Mitteleuropa. *Berichte der Deutschen Botanischen Gesellschaft*, 78(1), 35–50. https://journals.scholarsportal.info/details/03659631/v78i0001/35_8feuuhzefkvm.xml
- Eichenberg, D., Bowler, D. E., Bonn, A., Bruelheide, H., Grescho, V., Harter, D., Jandt, U., May, R., Winter, M., & Jansen, F. (2020). Widespread decline in Central European plant diversity across six decades. *Global Change Biology*, 27(5), 1097–1110. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.15447
- Ellenberg, H., Weber, H. E., Düll, R., Wirth, V., Werner, W., & Paulißen, D. (1991). Zeigerwerte von Pflanzen in Mitteleuropa. *Scripta Geobotanica*, *18*, 1–248.
- Engelhardt, E. K., Biber, M. F., Dolek, M., Fartmann, T., Hochkirch, A., Leidinger, J., Löffler, F., Pinkert, S., Poniatowski, D., Voith, J., Winterholler, M., Zeuss, D., Bowler, D. E., &

Hof, C. (2022). Consistent signals of a warming climate in occupancy changes of three insect taxa over 40 years in central Europe. *Global Change Biology*, *28*(13), 3998–4012. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.16200

- Engelhardt, E. K., Bowler, D. E., & Hof, C. (2023). European Habitats Directive has fostered monitoring but not prevented species declines. *Conservation Letters*, e12948. https://doi.org/10.1111/conl.12948
- European Environment Agency. (2014). *Terrestrial habitat mapping in Europe: An overview* (Nr. 1/2014).
- Fahrig, L. (2013). Rethinking patch size and isolation effects: The habitat amount hypothesis. *Journal of Biogeography*, *40*(9), 1649–1663. https://doi.org/10.1111/jbi.12130
- Fahrig, L. (2017). Ecological Responses to Habitat Fragmentation Per Se. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics, 48(1), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevecolsys-110316-022612
- Fenoglio, M. S., Rossetti, M. R., & Videla, M. (2020). Negative effects of urbanization on terrestrial arthropod communities: A meta-analysis. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 29(8), 1412–1429. https://doi.org/10.1111/geb.13107
- Fitzgerald, J. L., Stuble, K. L., Nichols, L. M., Diamond, S. E., Wentworth, T. R., Pelini, S. L., Gotelli, N. J., Sanders, N. J., Dunn, R. R., & Penick, C. A. (2021). Abundance of springand winter-active arthropods declines with warming. *Ecosphere*, 12(4), e03473. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.3473
- Foley, J. A., Defries, R., Asner, G. P., Barford, C., Bonan, G., Carpenter, S. R., Chapin, F. S., Coe, M. T., Daily, G. C., Gibbs, H. K., Helkowski, J. H., Holloway, T., Howard, E. A., Kucharik, C. J., Monfreda, C., Patz, J. A., Prentice, I. C., Ramankutty, N., & Snyder, P. K. (2005). Global consequences of land use. *Science*, *309*(5734), 570–574. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1111772
- Fontaine, C., Thébault, E., & Dajoz, I. (2009). Are insect pollinators more generalist than insect herbivores? *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 276(1669), 3027–3033. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2009.0635
- Fox, R., Oliver, T. H., Harrower, C., Parsons, M. S., Thomas, C. D., & Roy, D. B. (2014). Longterm changes to the frequency of occurrence of British moths are consistent with opposing and synergistic effects of climate and land-use changes. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 51(4), 949–957. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.12256
- Ganuza, C., Redlich, S., Uhler, J., Tobisch, C., Rojas-Botero, S., Peters, M. K., Zhang, J., Benjamin, C. S., Englmeier, J., Ewald, J., Fricke, U., Haensel, M., Kollmann, J., Riebl, R., Uphus, L., Müller, J., & Steffan-Dewenter, I. (2022). Interactive effects of climate and land use on pollinator diversity differ among taxa and scales. *Science Advances*, *8*(18), 9359. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.abm9359
- Gold, S., Korotkov, A., & Sasse, V. (2006). The development of European forest resources, 1950 to 2000. *Forest Policy and Economics*, *8*(2), 183–192. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2004.07.002
- Gossner, M. M., Lewinsohn, T. M., Kahl, T., Grassein, F., Boch, S., Prati, D., Birkhofer, K., Renner, S. C., Sikorski, J., Wubet, T., Arndt, H., Baumgartner, V., Blaser, S., Blüthgen, N., Börschig, C., Buscot, F., Diekötter, T., Jorge, L. R., Jung, K., Keyel, A. C., Klein, A.-M., Klemmer, S., Krauss, J., Lange, M., Müller, J., Overmann, J., Pašalić, E., Penone, C., Perović, D. J., Purschke, O., Schall, P., Socher, S. A., Sonnemann, I., Tschapka, M., Tscharntke, T., Türke, M., Venter, P. C., Weiner, C. N., Werner, M., Wolters, V., Wurst, S., Westphal, C., Fischer, M., Weisser, W. W., & Allan, E. (2016). Land-use intensification causes multitrophic homogenization of grassland communities. *Nature*, *540*(7632), 266–269. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature20575
- Govaert, S., Vangansbeke, P., Blondeel, H., Steppe, K., Verheyen, K., & Frenne, P. (2021). Rapid thermophilization of understorey plant communities in a 9 year-long temperate forest experiment. *Journal of Ecology*, *109*(6), 2434–2447. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745.13653
- Habel, J. C., Samways, M. J., & Schmitt, T. (2019a). Mitigating the precipitous decline of terrestrial European insects: Requirements for a new strategy. *Biodiversity & Conservation*, 28(6), 1343–1360. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-019-01741-8

- Habel, J. C., Segerer, A., Ulrich, W., Torchyk, O., Weisser, W. W., & Schmitt, T. (2016). Butterfly community shifts over two centuries. *Conservation Biology*, *30*(4), 754–762. https://doi.org/10.1111/cobi.12656
- Habel, J. C., Ulrich, W., Biburger, N., Seibold, S., & Schmitt, T. (2019b). Agricultural intensification drives butterfly decline. *Insect Conservation and Diversity*, 12(4), 289– 295. https://doi.org/10.1111/icad.12343
- Haddad, N. M., Crutsinger, G. M., Gross, K., Haarstad, J., Knops, J. M. H., & Tilman, D. (2009). Plant species loss decreases arthropod diversity and shifts trophic structure. *Ecology Letters*, *12*(10), 1029–1039. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2009.01356.x
- Haddad, N. M., Crutsinger, G. M., Gross, K., Haarstad, J., & Tilman, D. (2011). Plant diversity and the stability of foodwebs. *Ecology Letters*, *14*(1), 42–46. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2010.01548.x
- Hallmann, C. A., Sorg, M., Jongejans, E., Siepel, H., Hofland, N., Schwan, H., Stenmans, W., Müller, A., Sumser, H., Hörren, T., Goulson, D., & Kroon, H. (2017). More than 75 percent decline over 27 years in total flying insect biomass in protected areas. *PloS* one, 12(10), 0185809. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0185809
- Handel, S. N., & Beattie, A. J. (1990). Seed Dispersal by Ants. *Scientific American*, 263(2), 76-83B. https://www.jstor.org/stable/24996901
- Hardy, N. B., Kaczvinsky, C., Bird, G., & Normark, B. B. (2020). What We Don't Know About Diet-Breadth Evolution in Herbivorous Insects. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution,* and Systematics, 51(1), 103–122. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-ecolsys-011720-023322
- Hartig, F. (2022). DHARMa: Residual Diagnostics for Hierarchical (Multi-Level / Mixed) Regression Models: R package version 0.4.5. https://CRAN.Rproject.org/package=DHARMa
- Harvey, J. A., Heinen, R., Gols, R., & Thakur, M. P. (2020). Climate change-mediated temperature extremes and insects: From outbreaks to breakdowns. *Global Change Biology*, 26(12), 6685–6701. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.15377
- Harvey, J. A., Tougeron, K., Gols, R., Heinen, R., Abarca, M., Abram, P. K., Basset, Y., Berg, M., Boggs, C., Brodeur, J., Cardoso, P., de Boer, J. G., De Snoo, G. R., Deacon, C., Dell, J. E., Desneux, N., Dillon, M. E., Duffy, G. A., Dyer, L. A., Ellers, J., Espíndola, A., Fordyce, J., Forister, M. L., Fukushima, C., Gage, M. J. G., García-Robledo, C., Gely, C., Gobbi, M., Hallmann, C., Hance, T., Harte, J., Hochkirch, A., Hof, C., Hoffmann, A. A., Kingsolver, J. G., Lamarre, G. P. A., Laurance, W. F., Lavandero, B., Leather, S. R., Lehmann, P., Le Lann, C., López-Uribe, M. M., Ma, C.-S., Ma, G., Moiroux, J., Monticelli, L., Nice, C., Ode, P. J., Pincebourde, S., Ripple, W. J., Rowe, M., Samways, M. J., Sentis, A., Shah, A. A., Stork, N., Terblanche, J. S., Thakur, M. P., Thomas, M. B., Tylianakis, J. M., Van Baaren, J., Van de Pol, M., Van der Putten, W. H., Van Dyck, H., Verberk, W. C. E. P., Wagner, D. L., Weisser, W. W., Wetzel, W. C., Woods, H. A., Wyckhuys, K. A. G., & Chown, S. L. (2023). Scientists' warning on climate change and insects. *Ecological Monographs*, 93(1), e1553. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecm.1553
- Hausmann, A., Segerer, A. H., Greifenstein, T., Knubben, J., Morinière, J., Bozicevic, V., Doczkal, D., Günter, A., Ulrich, W., & Habel, J. C. (2020). Toward a standardized quantitative and qualitative insect monitoring scheme. *Ecology and Evolution*, *10*, 4009–4020. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.6166
- Hothorn, T., Frank Bretz, & Peter Westfall. (2008). Simultaneous Inference in General Parametric Models. *Biometrical Journal*, *50*(3), 346363.
- Jandt, U., Bruelheide, H., Jansen, F., Bonn, A., Grescho, V., Klenke, R. A., Sabatini, F. M., Bernhardt-Römermann, M., Blüml, V., Dengler, J., Diekmann, M., Doerfler, I., Döring, U., Dullinger, S., Haider, S., Heinken, T., Horchler, P., Kuhn, G., Lindner, M., Metze, K., Müller, N., Naaf, T., Peppler-Lisbach, C., Poschlod, P., Roscher, C., Rosenthal, G., Rumpf, S. B., Schmidt, W., Schrautzer, J., Schwabe, A., Schwartze, P., Sperle, T., Stanik, N., Storm, C., Voigt, W., Wegener, U., Wesche, K., Wittig, B., & Wulf, M. (2022). More losses than gains during one century of plant biodiversity change in Germany. *Nature*, *611*(7936), 512–518. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-022-05320-w

- Jansen, F., Bonn, A., Bowler, D. E., Bruelheide, H., & Eichenberg, D. (2020). Moderately common plants show highest relative losses. *Conservation Letters*, *13*(1), e12674. https://doi.org/10.1111/conl.12674
- Joern, A., & Laws, A. N. (2013). Ecological mechanisms underlying arthropod species diversity in grasslands. *Annual review of entomology*, 58, 19–36. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-ento-120811-153540
- Karlsson, D., Hartop, E., Forshage, M., Jaschhof, M., & Ronquist, F. (2020). The Swedish Malaise Trap Project: A 15 Year Retrospective on a Countrywide Insect Inventory. *Biodiversity data journal*, 8, 47255. https://doi.org/10.3897/BDJ.8.e47255
- Kawakita, A., Okamoto, T., Goto, R., & Kato, M. (2010). Mutualism favours higher host specificity than does antagonism in plant–herbivore interaction. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2010.0355
- Keddy, P. A. (1984). Plant Zonation on Lakeshores in Nova Scotia: A Test of the Resource Specialization Hypothesis. *Journal of Ecology*, 72(3), 797–808. https://doi.org/10.2307/2259532
- Koordinationsstelle BDM. (2014). *Biodiversitätsmonitoring Schweiz BDM: Beschreibung der Methoden und Indikatoren* (Bundesamt für Umwelt, Hrsg.; Bd. 1410). www.bafu.admin.ch/uw-uw-1410-d
- Krämer, B., Poniatowski, D., & Fartmann, T. (2012). Effects of landscape and habitat quality on butterfly communities in pre-alpine calcareous grasslands. *Biological Conservation*, 152, 253–261. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2012.03.038
- Lai, J., Zou, Y., Zhang, S., Zhang, X., & Mao, L. (2022). glmm.hp: An R package for computing individual effect of predictors in generalized linear mixed models. *Journal of Plant Ecology*, 15(6), 1302–1307. https://doi.org/10.1093/jpe/rtac096
- Leenders, J. K., Boxel, J. H. van, & Sterk, G. (2007). The effect of single vegetation elements on wind speed and sediment transport in the Sahelian zone of Burkina Faso. *Earth Surface Processes and Landforms*, *32*(10), 1454–1474. https://doi.org/10.1002/esp.1452
- Legendre, P., & Legendre, L. F. J. (2012). Numerical ecology (Bd. 24). Elsevier.
- Lengyel, S., Déri, E., & Magura, T. (2016). Species richness responses to structural or compositional habitat diversity between and within grassland patches: A multi-taxon approach. *PloS one*, *11*(2), 0149662. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0149662
- Lessard, J.-P., Sackett, T. E., Reynolds, W. N., Fowler, D. A., & Sanders, N. J. (2011). Determinants of the detrital arthropod community structure: The effects of temperature and resources along an environmental gradient. *Oikos*, *120*(3), 333–343. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0706.2010.18772.x
- Mack, G., Ritzel, C., & Jan, P. (2020). Determinants for the Implementation of Action-, Resultand Multi-Actor-Oriented Agri-Environment Schemes in Switzerland. *Ecological Economics*, *176*, 106715. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2020.106715
- Mantyka-Pringle, C. S., Martin, T. G., & Rhodes, J. R. (2012). Interactions between climate and habitat loss effects on biodiversity: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Global Change Biology*, *18*(4), 1239–1252. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2011.02593.x
- Martin, E. A., Dainese, M., Clough, Y., Báldi, A., Bommarco, R., Gagic, V., Garratt, M. P. D., Holzschuh, A., Kleijn, D., Kovács-Hostyánszki, A., Marini, L., Potts, S. G., Smith, H. G., Hassan, D. A., Albrecht, M., Andersson, G. K. S., Asís, J. D., Aviron, S., Balzan, M. V., Baños-Picón, L., Bartomeus, I., Batáry, P., Burel, F. G., Caballero-López, B., Concepción, E. D., Coudrain, V., Dänhardt, J., Díaz, M., Diekötter, T., Dormann, C. F., Duflot, R., Entling, M. H., Farwig, N., Fischer, C., Frank, T., Garibaldi, L. A., Hermann, J., Herzog, F., Inclán, D., Jacot, K., Jauker, F., Jeanneret, P., Kaiser, M., Krauss, J., Le Féon, V., Marshall, J., Moonen, A., Moreno, G., Riedinger, V., Rundlöf, M., Rusch, A., Scheper, J., Schneider, G., Schüepp, C., Stutz, S., Sutter, L., Tamburini, G., Thies, C., Tormos, J., Tscharntke, T., Tschumi, M., Uzman, D., Wagner, C., Zubair-Anjum, M., & Steffan-Dewenter, I. (2019). The interplay of landscape composition and configuration: New pathways to manage functional biodiversity and agroecosystem services across Europe. Ecology Letters. 22(7), 1083-1094. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.13265

- Matzdorf, B., & Lorenz, J. (2010). How cost-effective are result-oriented agri-environmental measures?—An empirical analysis in Germany. *Land Use Policy*, *27*(2), 535–544. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2009.07.011
- McLaughlin, J. F., Hellmann, J. J., Boggs, C. L., & Ehrlich, P. R. (2002). Climate change hastens population extinctions. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 99(9), 6070–6074. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.052131199
- McMahon, S. M., Parker, G. G., & Miller, D. R. (2010). Evidence for a recent increase in forest growth. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *107*(8), 3611–3615. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0912376107
- Melbourne, B. A., & Hastings, A. (2008). Extinction risk depends strongly on factors contributing to stochasticity. *Nature*, *454*, 100–103. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature06922
- Mitchell, R. J., Hester, A. J., Campbell, C. D., Chapman, S. J., Cameron, C. M., Hewison, R. L., & Potts, J. M. (2010). Is vegetation composition or soil chemistry the best predictor of the soil microbial community? *Plant and Soil*, 333(1), 417–430. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-010-0357-7
- Montgomery, G. A., Dunn, R. R., Fox, R., Jongejans, E., Leather, S. R., Saunders, M. E., Shortall, C. R., Tingley, M. W., & Wagner, D. L. (2020). Is the insect apocalypse upon us? How to find out. *Biological Conservation*, 241, 108327. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2019.108327
- Moreira, X., Abdala-Roberts, L., Rasmann, S., Castagneyrol, B., & Mooney, K. A. (2016). Plant diversity effects on insect herbivores and their natural enemies: Current thinking, recent findings, and future directions. *Current opinion in insect science*, 14, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cois.2015.10.003
- Morse, D. H. (1971). The Insectivorous Bird as an Adaptive Strategy. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics*, 2(1), 177–200. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.es.02.110171.001141
- Moser, D., Dullinger, S., Englisch, T., Niklfeld, H., Plutzar, C., Sauberer, N., Zechmeister, H. G., & Grabherr, G. (2005). Environmental determinants of vascular plant species richness in the Austrian Alps. *Journal of Biogeography*, *32*(7), 1117–1127. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2699.2005.01265.x
- Müller, J., & Brandl, R. (2009). Assessing biodiversity by remote sensing in mountainous terrain: The potential of LiDAR to predict forest beetle assemblages. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, *46*(4), 897–905. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2009.01677.x
- Müller, J., Brustel, H., Brin, A., Bussler, H., Bouget, C., Obermaier, E., Heidinger, I. M. M., Lachat, T., Förster, B., Horak, J., Procházka, J., Köhler, F., Larrieu, L., Bense, U., Isacsson, G., Zapponi, L., & Gossner, M. M. (2015). Increasing temperature may compensate for lower amounts of dead wood in driving richness of saproxylic beetles. *Ecography*, *38*(5), 499–509. https://doi.org/10.1111/ecog.00908
- Müller, J., Stadler, J., Jarzabek-Müller, A., Hacker, H., ter Braak, C., & Brandl, R. (2011). The predictability of phytophagous insect communities: Host specialists as habitat specialists. *PloS one*, *6*(10), 25986. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0025986
- Müller, J., Ulyshen, M., Seibold, S., Cadotte, M., Chao, A., Bässler, C., Vogel, S., Hagge, J., Weiß, I., Baldrian, P., Tláskal, V., & Thorn, S. (2020). Primary determinants of communities in deadwood vary among taxa but are regionally consistent. *Oikos*, *129*(10), 1579–1588. https://doi.org/10.1111/oik.07335
- Neff, F., Korner-Nievergelt, F., Rey, E., Albrecht, M., Bollmann, K., Cahenzli, F., Chittaro, Y., Gossner, M. M., Martínez-Núñez, C., Meier, E. S., Monnerat, C., Moretti, M., Roth, T., Herzog, F., & Knop, E. (2022). Different roles of concurring climate and regional landuse changes in past 40 years' insect trends. *Nature Communications*, *13*(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-022-35223-3
- Newbold, T., Hudson, L. N., Hill, S. L. L., Contu, S., Lysenko, I., Senior, R. A., Börger, L., Bennett, D. J., Choimes, A., Collen, B., Day, J., De Palma, A., Díaz, S., Echeverria-Londoño, S., Edgar, M. J., Feldman, A., Garon, M., Harrison, M. L. K., Alhusseini, T., Ingram, D. J., Itescu, Y., Kattge, J., Kemp, V., Kirkpatrick, L., Kleyer, M., Correia, D. L. P., Martin, C. D., Meiri, S., Novosolov, M., Pan, Y., Phillips, H. R. P., Purves, D. W.,

Robinson, A., Simpson, J., Tuck, S. L., Weiher, E., White, H. J., Ewers, R. M., Mace, G. M., Scharlemann, J. P. W., & Purvis, A. (2015). Global effects of land use on local terrestrial biodiversity. *Nature*, *520*, 45–50. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14324

- Ober, H. K., & Hayes, J. P. (2008). Influence of forest riparian vegetation on abundance and biomass of nocturnal flying insects. *Forest Ecology and Management*, *256*(5), 1124–1132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2008.06.010
- Oksanen, J., Blanchet, F. G., Friendly, M., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., McGlinn, D., Minchin, P. R., O'Hara, R. B., Simpson, G. L., Solymos, P., Stevens, M. H. H., Szoecs, E., & Wagner, H. H. (2020). Vegan: Community Ecology Package: R package version 2.5-7. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=vegan
- Oliver, I., Dorrough, J., Doherty, H., & Andrew, N. R. (2016). Additive and synergistic effects of land cover, land use and climate on insect biodiversity. *Landscape Ecology*, *31*(10), 2415–2431. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-016-0411-9
- Oliver, T. H., Brereton, T., & Roy, D. B. (2013). Population resilience to an extreme drought is influenced by habitat area and fragmentation in the local landscape. *Ecography*, *36*(5), 579–586. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0587.2012.07665.x
- Oliver, T. H., & Morecroft, M. D. (2014). Interactions between climate change and land use change on biodiversity: Attribution problems, risks, and opportunities. *WIREs Climate Change*, *5*(3), 317–335. https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.271
- Ollerton, J., Winfree, R., & Tarrant, S. (2011). How many flowering plants are pollinated by animals? *Oikos*, *120*(3), 321–326. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0706.2010.18644.x
- Otýpková, Z., Chytrý, M., Tichý, L., Pechanec, V., Jongepier, J. W., & Hájek, O. (2011). Floristic diversity patterns in the White Carpathians biosphere reserve, Czech Republic. *Biologia*, 66(2), 266–274. https://doi.org/10.2478/s11756-011-0004-7
- Outhwaite, Č. L., McCann, P., & Newbold, T. (2022). Agriculture and climate change are reshaping insect biodiversity worldwide. *Nature*, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-022-04644-x
- Owens, A. C. S., Cochard, P., Durrant, J., Farnworth, B., Perkin, E. K., & Seymoure, B. (2020). Light pollution is a driver of insect declines. *Biological Conservation*, *241*, 108259. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2019.108259
- Pastor, J., & Cohen, Y. (1997). Herbivores, the Functional Diversity of Plants Species, and the Cycling of Nutrients in Ecosystems. *Theoretical Population Biology*, *51*(3), 165–179. https://doi.org/10.1006/tpbi.1997.1327
- Pausas, J. G., Carreras, J., Ferré, A., & Font, X. (2003). Coarse-scale plant species richness in relation to environmental heterogeneity. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, *14*(5), 661– 668. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1654-1103.2003.tb02198.x
- Penone, C., Allan, E., Soliveres, S., Felipe-Lucia, M. R., Gossner, M. M., Seibold, S., Simons, N. K., Schall, P., van der Plas, F., Manning, P., Manzanedo, R. D., Boch, S., Prati, D., Ammer, C., Bauhus, J., Buscot, F., Ehbrecht, M., Goldmann, K., Jung, K., Müller, J., Müller, J. C., Pena, R., Polle, A., Renner, S. C., Ruess, L., Schönig, I., Schrumpf, M., Solly, E. F., Tschapka, M., Weisser, W. W., Wubet, T., & Fischer, M. (2019). Specialisation and diversity of multiple trophic groups are promoted by different forest features. *Ecology Letters*, 22(1), 170–180. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.13182
- Perre, P., Loyola, R. D., Lewinsohn, T. M., & Almeida-Neto, M. (2011). Insects on urban plants: Contrasting the flower head feeding assemblages on native and exotic hosts. *Urban Ecosystems*, 14(4), 711–722. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11252-011-0179-2
- Peters, M. K., Hemp, A., Appelhans, T., Becker, J. N., Behler, C., Classen, A., Detsch, F., Ensslin, A., Ferger, S. W., Frederiksen, S. B., Gebert, F., Gerschlauer, F., Gütlein, A., Helbig-Bonitz, M., Hemp, C., Kindeketa, W. J., Kühnel, A., Mayr, A. V., Mwangomo, E., Ngereza, C., Njovu, H. K., Otte, I., Pabst, H., Renner, M., Röder, J., Rutten, G., Costa, D. S., Sierra-Cornejo, N., Vollstädt, M. G. R., Dulle, H. I., Eardley, C. D., Howell, K. M., Keller, A., Peters, R. S., Ssymank, A., Kakengi, V., Zhang, J., Bogner, C., Böhning-Gaese, K., Brandl, R., Hertel, D., Huwe, B., Kiese, R., Kleyer, M., Kuzyakov, Y., Nauss, T., Schleuning, M., Tschapka, M., Fischer, M., & Steffan-Dewenter, I. (2019). Climate– land-use interactions shape tropical mountain biodiversity and ecosystem functions. *Nature*, *568*, 88–92. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1048-z

- Piano, E., Souffreau, C., Merckx, T., Baardsen, L. F., Backeljau, T., Bonte, D., Brans, K. I., Cours, M., Dahirel, M., Debortoli, N., Decaestecker, E., De Wolf, K., Engelen, J. M. T., Fontaneto, D., Gianuca, A. T., Govaert, L., Hanashiro, F. T. T., Higuti, J., Lens, L., Martens, K., Matheve, H., Matthysen, E., Pinseel, E., Sablon, R., Schön, I., Stoks, R., Van Doninck, K., Van Dyck, H., Vanormelingen, P., Van Wichelen, J., Vyverman, W., De Meester, L., & Hendrickx, F. (2020). Urbanization drives cross-taxon declines in abundance and diversity at multiple spatial scales. *Global Change Biology*, *26*(3), 1196–1211. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14934
- Pilotto, F., Kühn, I., Adrian, R., Alber, R., Alignier, A., Andrews, C., Bäck, J., Barbaro, L., Beaumont, D., Beenaerts, N., Benham, S., Boukal, D. S., Bretagnolle, V., Camatti, E., Canullo, R., Cardoso, P. G., Ens, B. J., Everaert, G., Evtimova, V., Feuchtmayr, H., García-González, R., Gómez García, D., Grandin, U., Gutowski, J. M., Hadar, L., Halada, L., Halassy, M., Hummel, H., Huttunen, K.-L., Jaroszewicz, B., Jensen, T. C., Kalivoda, H., Schmidt, I. K., Kröncke, I., Leinonen, R., Martinho, F., Meesenburg, H., Meyer, J., Minerbi, S., Monteith, D., Nikolov, B. P., Oro, D., Ozoliņš, D., Padedda, B. M., Pallett, D., Pansera, M., Pardal, M. Â., Petriccione, B., Pipan, T., Pöyry, J., Schäfer, S. M., Schaub, M., Schneider, S. C., Skuja, A., Soetaert, K., Spriņģe, G., Stanchev, R., Stockan, J. A., Stoll, S., Sundqvist, L., Thimonier, A., Van Hoey, G., Van Ryckegem, G., Visser, M. E., Vorhauser, S., & Haase, P. (2020). Meta-analysis of multidecadal biodiversity trends in Europe. *Nature Communications*, *11*(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-17171-y
- Prather, R. M., & Kaspari, M. (2019). Plants regulate grassland arthropod communities through biomass, quality, and habitat heterogeneity. *Ecosphere*, *10*(10), 02909. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.2909
- Quinn, R. M., Caston, K. J., & Roy, D. B. (1998). Coincidence in the distributions of butterflies and their foodplants. *Ecography*, *21*(3), 279–288. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0587.1998.tb00565.x
- R Core Team. (2022). *R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing*. Vienna, Austria. Available online at: https://www.R-project.org/
- Ratnasingham, S., & Hebert, P. D. N. (2007). bold: The Barcode of Life Data System (http://www.barcodinglife.org). *Molecular ecology notes*, 7(3), 355–364. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-8286.2007.01678.x
- Ratnasingham, S., & Hebert, P. D. N. (2013). A DNA-based registry for all animal species: The barcode index number (BIN) system. *PloS one*, *8*(7), 66213. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0066213
- Rautiainen, A., Wernick, I., Waggoner, P. E., Ausubel, J. H., & Kauppi, P. E. (2011). A national and international analysis of changing forest density. *PloS one*, 6(5), 19577. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0019577
- Rebaudo, F., Faye, E., & Dangles, O. (2016). Microclimate Data Improve Predictions of Insect Abundance Models Based on Calibrated Spatiotemporal Temperatures. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2016.00139
- Redlich, S., Zhang, J., Benjamin, C., Dhillon, M. S., Englmeier, J., Ewald, J., Fricke, U., Ganuza, C., Haensel, M., Hovestadt, T., Kollmann, J., Koellner, T., Kübert-Flock, C., Kunstmann, H., Menzel, A., Moning, C., Peters, W., Riebl, R., Rummler, T., Rojas-Botero, S., Tobisch, C., Uhler, J., Uphus, L., Müller, J., & Steffan-Dewenter, I. (2021). Disentangling effects of climate and land use on biodiversity and ecosystem services— A multi-scale experimental design. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, *13*(2), 514–527. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.13759
- Rollin, O., Pérez-Méndez, N., Bretagnolle, V., & Henry, M. (2019). Preserving habitat quality at local and landscape scales increases wild bee diversity in intensive farming systems. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 275, 73–*80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2019.01.012
- Román-Palacios, C., & Wiens, J. J. (2020). Recent responses to climate change reveal the drivers of species extinction and survival. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 117(8), 4211–4217. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1913007117

- Rösch, V., Tscharntke, T., Scherber, C., & Batáry, P. (2013). Landscape composition, connectivity and fragment size drive effects of grassland fragmentation on insect communities. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 50(2), 387–394. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.12056
- Rosenberg, Y., Bar-Ön, Y. M., Fromm, A., Ostikar, M., Shoshany, A., Giz, O., & Milo, R. (2023). The global biomass and number of terrestrial arthropods. *Science Advances*, *9*(5), eabq4049. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.abq4049
- Roth, M. (2022). Understanding signs of eutrophication in the ground vegetation of temperate forests the role of nitrogen deposition and other environmental factors [Dissertation, Albert-Ludwigs-Universität Freiburg im Breisgau]. https://katalog.ub.uni-freiburg.de/link?kid=1833811925
- Rydhmer, K., Bick, E., Still, L., Strand, A., Luciano, R., Helmreich, S., Beck, B. D., Grønne, C., Malmros, L., Poulsen, K., Elbæk, F., Brydegaard, M., Lemmich, J., & Nikolajsen, T. (2022). Automating insect monitoring using unsupervised near-infrared sensors. *Scientific Reports*, 12(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-06439-6
- Sala, O. E. (2000). Global Biodiversity Scenarios for the Year 2100. *Science*, *287*(5459), 1770–1774. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.287.5459.1770
- Salisbury, A., Armitage, J., Bostock, H., Perry, J., Tatchell, M., & Thompson, K. (2015). Enhancing gardens as habitats for flower-visiting aerial insects (pollinators): Should we plant native or exotic species? *Journal of Applied Ecology*, *52*(5), 1156–1164. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.12499
- Sanderson, R. A., Rushton, S. P., Cherrill, A. J., & Byrne, J. P. (1995). Soil, vegetation and space: An analysis of their effects on the invertebrate communities of a moorland in North-East England. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, *32*(3), 506. https://doi.org/10.2307/2404648
- Scalenghe, R., & Marsan, F. A. (2009). The anthropogenic sealing of soils in urban areas. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, *90*(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2008.10.011
- Schaffers, A. P., Raemakers, I. P., Sýkora, K. V., & ter Braak, C. (2008). Arthropod assemblages are best predicted by plant species composition. *Ecology*, 89(3), 782– 794. https://doi.org/10.1890/07-0361.1
- Scheper, J., Reemer, M., van Kats, R., Ozinga, W. A., van der Linden, G. T. J., Schaminée, J. H. J., Siepel, H., & Kleijn, D. (2014). Museum specimens reveal loss of pollen host plants as key factor driving wild bee decline in The Netherlands. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *111*(49), 17552–17557. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1412973111
- Scherber, C., Eisenhauer, N., Weisser, W. W., Schmid, B., Voigt, W., Fischer, M., Schulze, E.-D., Roscher, C., Weigelt, A., Allan, E., Beßler, H., Bonkowski, M., Buchmann, N., Buscot, F., Clement, L. W., Ebeling, A., Engels, C., Halle, S., Kertscher, I., Klein, A.-M., Koller, R., König, S., Kowalski, E., Kummer, V., Kuu, A., Lange, M., Lauterbach, D., Middelhoff, C., Migunova, V. D., Milcu, A., Müller, R., Partsch, S., Petermann, J. S., Renker, C., Rottstock, T., Sabais, A., Scheu, S., Schumacher, J., Temperton, V., & Tscharntke, T. (2010). Bottom-up effects of plant diversity on multitrophic interactions in a biodiversity experiment. *Nature*, 468, 553–556. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09492
- Schuldt, A., Ebeling, A., Kunz, M., Staab, M., Guimarães-Steinicke, C., Bachmann, D., Buchmann, N., Durka, W., Fichtner, A., Fornoff, F., Härdtle, W., Hertzog, L. R., Klein, A.-M., Roscher, C., Schaller, J., Oheimb, G., Weigelt, A., Weisser, W., Wirth, C., Zhang, J., Bruelheide, H., & Eisenhauer, N. (2019). Multiple plant diversity components drive consumer communities across ecosystems. *Nature Communications*, *10*(1), 1460. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-09448-8
- Schweiger, O., Settele, J., Kudrna, O., Klotz, S., & Kühn, I. (2008). Climate Change Can Cause Spatial Mismatch of Trophically Interacting Species. *Ecology*, *89*(12), 3472–3479. https://doi.org/10.1890/07-1748.1

- Sears, M. W., & Angilletta, M. J. (2015). Costs and Benefits of Thermoregulation Revisited: Both the Heterogeneity and Spatial Structure of Temperature Drive Energetic Costs. *The American Naturalist*, *185*(4), E94–E102. https://doi.org/10.1086/680008
- Seibold, S., Gossner, M. M., Simons, N. K., Blüthgen, N., Müller, J., Ambarli, D., Ammer, C., Bauhus, J., Fischer, M., Habel, J. C., Linsenmair, K. E., Nauss, T., Penone, C., Prati, D., Schall, P., Schulze, E.-D., Vogt, J., Wöllauer, S., & Weisser, W. W. (2019). Arthropod decline in grasslands and forests is associated with landscape-level drivers. *Nature*, 574, 671–674. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1684-3
- Sørensen, T. (1948). A method of establishing groups of equal amplitude in plant sociology based on similarity of species content and its application to analysis of the vegetation on Danish commons. *Biologiske Skrifter*, *5*, 1–34.
- Srivastava, D. S., & Lawton, J. H. (1998). Why More Productive Sites Have More Species: An Experimental Test of Theory Using Tree-Hole Communities. *The American Naturalist*, 152(4), 510–529. https://doi.org/10.1086/286187
- Staab, M., Gossner, M. M., Simons, N. K., Achury, R., Ambarli, D., Bae, S., Schall, P., Weisser, W. W., & Blüthgen, N. (2023). Insect decline in forests depends on species' traits and may be mitigated by management. *Communications Biology*, *6*(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1038/s42003-023-04690-9
- Steckel, J., Westphal, C., Peters, M. K., Bellach, M., Rothenwoehrer, C., Erasmi, S., Scherber, C., Tscharntke, T., & Steffan-Dewenter, I. (2014). Landscape composition and configuration differently affect trap-nesting bees, wasps and their antagonists. Biological Conservation, 172, 56–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2014.02.015
- Steinbauer, M. J., Grytnes, J.-A., Jurasinski, G., Kulonen, A., Lenoir, J., Pauli, H., Rixen, C., Winkler, M., Bardy-Durchhalter, M., Barni, E., Bjorkman, A. D., Breiner, F. T., Burg, S., Czortek, P., Dawes, M. A., Delimat, A., Dullinger, S., Erschbamer, B., Felde, V. A., Fernández-Arberas, O., Fossheim, K. F., Gómez-García, D., Georges, D., Grindrud, E. T., Haider, S., Haugum, S. V., Henriksen, H., Herreros, M. J., Jaroszewicz, B., Jaroszynska, F., Kanka, R., Kapfer, J., Klanderud, K., Kühn, I., Lamprecht, A., Matteodo, M., di Cella, U. M., Normand, S., Odland, A., Olsen, S. L., Palacio, S., Petey, M., Piscová, V., Sedlakova, B., Steinbauer, K., Stöckli, V., Svenning, J.-C., Teppa, G., Theurillat, J.-P., Vittoz, P., Woodin, S. J., Zimmermann, N. E., & Wipf, S. (2018). Accelerated increase in plant species richness on mountain summits is linked to warming. *Nature*, 556, 231–234. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-018-0005-6
- Stevens, C. J., Dise, N. B., Mountford, J. O., & Gowing, D. J. (2004). Impact of nitrogen deposition on the species richness of grasslands. *Science*, *303*, 1876–1879. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1094678
- Stewart, A. J. A., & New, T. R. (2007). Insect conservation in temperate biomes: Issues, progress and prospects. In *Insect conservation biology. Proceedings of the Royal Entomological Society's 23rd Symposium* (S. 1–33). CABI Publishing Wallingford, UK.
- Stork, N. E. (2018). How Many Species of Insects and Other Terrestrial Arthropods Are There on Earth? *Annual Review of Entomology*, *63*(1), 31–45. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-ento-020117-043348
- Suggitt, A. J., Gillingham, P. K., Hill, J. K., Huntley, B., Kunin, W. E., Roy, D. B., & Thomas, C. D. (2011). Habitat microclimates drive fine-scale variation in extreme temperatures. *Oikos*, *120*(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0706.2010.18270.x
- Svenningsen, C. S., Bowler, D. E., Hecker, S., Bladt, J., Grescho, V., van Dam, N. M., Dauber, J., Eichenberg, D., Ejrnæs, R., Fløjgaard, C., Frenzel, M., Frøslev, T. G., Hansen, A. J., Heilmann-Clausen, J., Huang, Y., Larsen, J. C., Menger, J., Nayan, N. L. B. M., Pedersen, L. B., Richter, A., Dunn, R. R., Tøttrup, A. P., & Bonn, A. (2022). Flying insect biomass is negatively associated with urban cover in surrounding landscapes. *Diversity and Distributions*, *28*(6), 1242–1254. https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.13532
- Theodorou, P., Radzevičiūtė, R., Lentendu, G., Kahnt, B., Husemann, M., Bleidorn, C., Settele, J., Schweiger, O., Grosse, I., Wubet, T., Murray, T. E., & Paxton, R. J. (2020). Urban areas as hotspots for bees and pollination but not a panacea for all insects. *Nature Communications*, *11*(1), 576. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-14496-6

- Thomas, C. D., Cameron, A., Green, R. E., Bakkenes, M., Beaumont, L. J., Collingham, Y. C., Erasmus, B. F. N., de Siqueira, M. F., Grainger, A., Hannah, L., Hughes, L., Huntley, B., van Jaarsveld, A. S., Midgley, G. F., Miles, L., Ortega-Huerta, M. A., Townsend Peterson, A., Phillips, O. L., & Williams, S. E. (2004). Extinction risk from climate change. *Nature*, *427*, 145–148. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature02121
- Tobisch, C., Rojas-Botero, S., Uhler, J., Kollmann, J., Müller, J., Moning, C., Redlich, S., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Benjamin, C., Englmeier, J., Fricke, U., Ganuza, C., Haensel, M., Riebl, R., Uphus, L., & Ewald, J. (2023a). Conservation-relevant plant species indicate arthropod richness across trophic levels: Habitat quality is more important than habitat amount. *Ecological Indicators*, 148, 110039. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2023.110039
- Tobisch, C., Rojas-Botero, S., Uhler, J., Müller, J., Kollmann, J., Moning, C., Brändle, M., Gossner, M. M., Redlich, S., Zhang, J., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Benjamin, C., Englmeier, J., Fricke, U., Ganuza, C., Haensel, M., Riebl, R., Uphus, L., & Ewald, J. (2023b). Plant species composition and local habitat conditions as primary determinants of terrestrial arthropod assemblages. *Oecologia*, 201(3), 813–825. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-023-05345-6
- Uchida, K., & Ushimaru, A. (2014). Biodiversity declines due to abandonment and intensification of agricultural lands: Patterns and mechanisms. *Ecological Monographs*, *84*(4), 637–658. https://doi.org/10.1890/13-2170.1
- Uematsu, Y., Koga, T., Mitsuhashi, H., & Ushimaru, A. (2010). Abandonment and intensified use of agricultural land decrease habitats of rare herbs in semi-natural grasslands. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 135*(4), 304–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2009.10.010
- Uhey, D. A., Riskas, H. L., Smith, A. D., & Hofstetter, R. W. (2020). Ground-dwelling arthropods of pinyon-juniper woodlands: Arthropod community patterns are driven by climate and overall plant productivity, not host tree species. *PloS one*, *15*(8), 0238219. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0238219
- Uhl, B., Wölfling, M., & Fiedler, K. (2020). Understanding small-scale insect diversity patterns inside two nature reserves: The role of local and landscape factors. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 29(7), 2399–2418. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-020-01981-z
- Uhler, J., Haase, P., Hoffmann, L., Hothorn, T., Schmidl, J., Stoll, S., Welti, E. A. R., Buse, J.,
 & Müller, J. (2022). A comparison of different Malaise trap types. *Insect Conservation and Diversity*, *15*(6), 666–672. https://doi.org/10.1111/icad.12604
- Uhler, J., Redlich, S., Zhang, J., Hothorn, T., Tobisch, C., Ewald, J., Thorn, S., Seibold, S., Mitesser, O., Morinière, J., Bozicevic, V., Benjamin, C. S., Englmeier, J., Fricke, U., Ganuza, C., Haensel, M., Riebl, R., Rojas-Botero, S., Rummler, T., Uphus, L., Schmidt, S., Steffan-Dewenter, I., & Müller, J. (2021). Relationship of insect biomass and richness with land use along a climate gradient. *Nature Communications*, *12*(1), 5946. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-26181-3
- van Klink, R., August, T., Bas, Y., Bodesheim, P., Bonn, A., Fossøy, F., Høye, T. T., Jongejans, E., Menz, M. H. M., Miraldo, A., Roslin, T., Roy, H. E., Ruczyński, I., Schigel, D., Schäffler, L., Sheard, J. K., Svenningsen, C., Tschan, G. F., Wäldchen, J., Zizka, V. M. A., Åström, J., & Bowler, D. E. (2022). Emerging technologies revolutionise insect ecology and monitoring. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, *37*(10), 872–885. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2022.06.001
- van Klink, R., Bowler, D. E., Gongalsky, K. B., Swengel, A. B., Gentile, A., & Chase, J. M. (2020). Meta-analysis reveals declines in terrestrial but increases in freshwater insect abundances. *Science*, *368*, 417–420. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aax9931
- van Schalkwyk, J., Pryke, J. S., Samways, M. J., & Gaigher, R. (2019). Congruence between arthropod and plant diversity in a biodiversity hotspot largely driven by underlying abiotic factors. *Ecological Applications*, *29*(4), 01883. https://doi.org/10.1002/eap.1883
- Verheyen, K., Baeten, L., De Frenne, P., Bernhardt-Römermann, M., Brunet, J., Cornelis, J., Decocq, G., Dierschke, H., Eriksson, O., Hédl, R., Heinken, T., Hermy, M., Hommel, P., Kirby, K., Naaf, T., Peterken, G., Petřík, P., Pfadenhauer, J., Van Calster, H., Walther, G.-R., Wulf, M., & Verstraeten, G. (2012). Driving factors behind the

eutrophication signal in understorey plant communities of deciduous temperate forests. *Journal of Ecology*, *100*(2), 352–365. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2745.2011.01928.x

- Wagner, D. L. (2020). Insect Declines in the Anthropocene. *Annual review of entomology*, 457–480. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-ento-011019-025151
- Wagner, D. L., Grames, E. M., Forister, M. L., Berenbaum, M. R., & Stopak, D. (2021). Insect decline in the Anthropocene: Death by a thousand cuts. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *118*(2), 2023989118. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2023989118
- Ward, L. K., & Spalding, D. F. (1993). Phytophagous British insects and mites and their foodplant families: Total numbers and polyphagy. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society*, 49(3), 257–276. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8312.1993.tb00905.x
- Warren, M. S., Maes, D., van Swaay, C. A. M., Goffart, P., Van Dyck, H., Bourn, N. A. D., Wynhoff, I., Hoare, D., & Ellis, S. (2021). The decline of butterflies in Europe: Problems, significance, and possible solutions. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 118(2), e2002551117. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2002551117
- Weiner, C. N., Werner, M., Linsenmair, K. E., & Blüthgen, N. (2011). Land use intensity in grasslands: Changes in biodiversity, species composition and specialisation in flower visitor networks. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, 12(4), 292–299. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.baae.2010.08.006
- Welti, E. A. R., Zajiček, P., Frenzel, M., Ayasse, M., Bornholdt, T., Buse, J., Classen, A., Dziock, F., Engelmann, R. A., Englmeier, J., Fellendorf, M., Förschler, M. I., Fricke, U., Ganuza, C., Hippke, M., Hoenselaar, G., Kaus-Thiel, A., Kerner, J., Kilian, D., Mandery, K., Marten, A., Monaghan, M. T., Morkel, C., Müller, J., Puffpaff, S., Redlich, S., Richter, R., Rojas-Botero, S., Scharnweber, T., Scheiffarth, G., Yáñez, P. S., Schumann, R., Seibold, S., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Stoll, S., Tobisch, C., Twietmeyer, S., Uhler, J., Vogt, J., Weis, D., Weisser, W. W., Wilmking, M., & Haase, P. (2022). Temperature drives variation in flying insect biomass across a German malaise trap network. *Insect Conservation and Diversity*, *15*(2), 168–180. https://doi.org/10.1111/icad.12555
- Wesche, K., Krause, B., Culmsee, H., & Leuschner, C. (2012). Fifty years of change in Central European grassland vegetation: Large losses in species richness and animal-pollinated plants. *Biological Conservation*, 150(1), 76–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2012.02.015
- Whitehouse, N. J. (2006). The Holocene British and Irish ancient forest fossil beetle fauna: Implications for forest history, biodiversity and faunal colonisation. *Quaternary Science Reviews*, *25*(15), 1755–1789. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quascirev.2006.01.010
- Wilson, J. B. (2012). Species presence/absence sometimes represents a plant community as well as species abundances do, or better. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, *23*(6), 1013–1023. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1654-1103.2012.01430.x
- Wood, S. N. (2004). Stable and Efficient Multiple Smoothing Parameter Estimation for Generalized Additive Models. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, 99(467), 673–686. https://doi.org/10.1198/01621450400000980
- Woodcock, B. A., & Pywell, R. F. (2010). Effects of vegetation structure and floristic diversity on detritivore, herbivore and predatory invertebrates within calcareous grasslands. *Biodiversity & Conservation*, 19(1), 81–95. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-009-9703-6
- Woodward, F. I., & Williams, B. G. (1987). Climate and plant distribution at global and local scales. *Vegetatio*, *69*(1), 189–197. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00038700
- Yu, Y., Wei, W., Chen, L., Feng, T., Daryanto, S., & Wang, L. (2017). Land preparation and vegetation type jointly determine soil conditions after long-term land stabilization measures in a typical hilly catchment, Loess Plateau of China. *Journal of Soils and Sediments*, 17(1), 144–156. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11368-016-1494-2
- Zellweger, F., Baltensweiler, A., Ginzler, C., Roth, T., Braunisch, V., Bugmann, H., & Bollmann, K. (2016). Environmental predictors of species richness in forest landscapes: Abiotic factors versus vegetation structure. *Journal of Biogeography*, *43*(6), 1080–1090. https://doi.org/10.1111/jbi.12696

- Zellweger, F., Roth, T., Bugmann, H., & Bollmann, K. (2017). Beta diversity of plants, birds and butterflies is closely associated with climate and habitat structure. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, *26*(8), 898–906. https://doi.org/10.1111/geb.12598
- Zhang, Y., Loreau, M., He, N., Wang, J., Pan, Q., Bai, Y., & Han, X. (2018). Climate variability decreases species richness and community stability in a temperate grassland. *Oecologia*, *188*(1), 183–192. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-018-4208-1
- Zindler, M. (2022). Designing Agri-Environmental Schemes Different Ideas from Groups of Farmers and Nature Managers in Bavaria [Master's Thesis]. Professorship of Ecological Services, University of Bayreuth.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

My thesis is based on the work and help of many people including some of the kindest persons I have ever met. I would like to thank everyone who has accompanied me during this time.

I am very grateful to both of my supervisors Prof. Jörg Ewald and Prof. Johannes Kollmann for their excellent guidance and support through all phases of the doctorate. Thank you for constant encouragement, always quick and professional feedback and many hours of plant identification spent in the lab. I appreciated to learn from both your perspectives. Further, I would like to thank Prof. Christoph Moning for opening many doors on my way into science, for encouraging me to join LandKlif and start a PhD five years ago, and for many inspiring and entertaining talks about all kinds of things. I could not have wished for a better mentor. I also thank Jörg Müller for kindly sharing his extensive knowledge and experience, for shaping the idea for my first paper, and for interesting discussions about data analyses.

A big thank you to goes to Sandra Rojas-Botero, Katja Meßlinger und Severin Sebald for travelling across Bavaria and doing the vegetation surveys with me, and for helping with the other fieldwork. I could not have imagined a better team to manage all of this. Many thanks to Johannes Uhler for the processing of all the arthropod samples, and Sarah Redlich for coordinating the joint fieldwork. Further, I thank the LandKlif team for doing a tremendous amount of fieldwork including the establishment and maintenance of the Malaise traps and the collection of plant biomass. I am also thankful for lots of constructive feedback I received from my PhD colleagues during the writing and revisions of the manuscripts, especially Sandra Rojas-Botero, Dr. Ute Fricke, Dr. Cristina Ganuza, Maria Hänsel and Lars Uphus. It was great to be part of this research group full of nice and ambitious scientists. I am also grateful to all bachelor and master students who helped in the field, in the lab or with other tasks related to the project. I gratefully acknowledge funding of my research by the Bavarian Ministry of Science and Arts within the framework of bayklif network.

I warmly thank all of my colleagues and friends at the Institute of Ecology and Landscape, including Dr. Linda Schrapp, Dr. Laura Stratopoulos, Rebekka Honecker, Patrizia Eben and Peter Blum for happy lunch breaks and parties in the backyard of the A10 building, and all the other HSWT colleagues who make this place a nice one to work. Many thanks go to Julian Treffler for joining our team last year and doing a fantastic job in the completion of the project so that I have had the time to finish my thesis. Further, I would like to thank my fellow doctoral students within the BayWISS Life Sciences network, especially Christina Hartung, Daniel Hauck, Julia Straub, Robin Renoth and Martin Höhendinger for amusing hours filled with scientific and non-scientific exchange, muffins and fun with R. I also thank Michaela Stegmann who did a great job in supporting our PhD projects and organized many fruitful workshops and network events for us.

Finally, I thank my family and friends for their patience and interest in my work. Very special thanks go to Andi for constructing the wooden frames for the vegetation surveys, fixing my car when I broke it, occasionally helping in the field, looking at scatterplots, and for being a great support in many other ways.

APPENDIX

- A1 Additional analysis relating to Publication 3
- A2 Publication list

A1 Additional analysis relating to Publication 3

Publication 3 investigated the responses of arthropod biomass to climate and land-use, but did not include variables related to vegetation. Therefore, additional analyses were carried out that test the effects of plant biomass and plant species richness on arthropod biomass, complementary to the effects of climate and land use. As both plant species richness and plant biomass were sampled only once per site, arthropod biomass amounts were also averaged across the sampling period by calculating mean biomass values per day for each study site, which was used as target variable. Concordant to **Publication 2**, three groups of plant species richness (all species, red-listed species and biotope-indicator species) were considered as predictors for arthropod biomass in separate model versions. Further, the effects of land use and local climate on plant biomass were tested.

Results of linear mixed effect models showed no significant effects of plant biomass on arthropod biomass (Table A1, Fig. A1). Likewise, none of the three sets of plant species richness significantly affected arthropod biomass (Table A1, Fig. A1). Plant biomass was not correlated with plant species richness of any of the three groups (Pearson coefficients were all below |0.2|).

Table A1: Results (z-values) of linear mixed effect models with arthropod biomass as target variable. Three model versions were calculated with varying sets of plant species richness (ALL: all plant species; RL: red-listed species; BIO: biotope-indicator species). Asterisks indicate significance levels (*** p < 0.001, ** p < 0.01, * p < 0.05). Marginal R²-values indicate variance proportions explained by fixed effects and conditional R²-values indicate variance proportions explained by fixed effects and the random effect (60 quadrants, each containing three study sites).

	Effects on arthropod biomass (z-values)		
Plant species richness	<i>ALL plants</i> 0.603	<i>RL plants</i> 1.534	<i>BIO plants</i> 0.067
Plant biomass	0.424	0.475	0.359
Local temperature	2.775**	2.786**	2.906**
Local humidity	1.466	1.692	1.404
Local land use: Forest			
Grassland	-1.149	-1.125	-0.951
Arable land	-1.073	-1.037	-0.863
Settlement	-1.856	-1.733	-1.670
Landscape type: Forest			
Agriculture	0.387	0.467	0.246
Urban	-1.865	-1.544	-1.962*
Expained variance:			
Marginal R ²	0.11	0.14	0.10
Conditional R ²	0.12	0.14	0.15



Fig. A1: Partial effects of plant biomass (a) and plant species richness (b-d; ALL: all plant species; RL: red-listed plant species; BIO: biotope-indicator species) on mean daily arthropod biomass.

Plant biomass was positively associated with local temperature and local humidity, while the effect of temperature was more pronounced (Table A2). Biomass values in forests were significantly lower than in the other local land-use types, whereas biomass values in forested landscapes were higher than in urban ones (Fig. A2).

Table A2: Results (z-values) of generalized linear mixed effect model with plant biomass as target variable. Asterisks indicate significance levels (*** p < 0.001, ** p < 0.01, * p < 0.05). Marginal R²-values indicate variance proportions explained by fixed effects and conditional R²-values indicate variance proportions explained by fixed effects and the random effect (60 quadrants, each containing three study sites).

	Effects on plant biomass
	(z-values)
Local temperature	4.242***
Local humidity	2.573*
Local land use: Forest	
Grassland	2.989**
Arable land	4.781***
Settlement	3.374***
Landscape type: Forest	
Agriculture	-0.415
Urban	-2.534*
Expained variance:	
Marginal R ²	0.27
Conditional R ²	0.37



Fig. A2: Differences in plant biomass between a) local land-use types and b) landscape-scale land-use types. Different letters above the boxes indicate significant differences (p < 0.05) between local land-use types, as obtained from multiple posthoc comparisons.

A2 Publication list

Peer reviewed journal publications

2023

- Englmeier, J., Mitesser, O., Benbow, M. E., Hothorn, T., von Hoermann, C., Benjamin, C., Fricke, U., Ganuza, C., Haensel, M., Redlich, S., Riebl, R., Rojas Botero, S., Rummler, T., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Stengel, E., **Tobisch, C.**, Uhler, J., Uphus, L., Zhang, J., & Müller, J. (2023). Diverse effects of climate, land use, and insects on dung and carrion decomposition. Ecosystems, 26(2), 397–411. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-022-00764-7
- Englmeier, J., Rieker, D., Mitesser, O., Benjamin, C., Fricke, U., Ganuza, C., Haensel, M., Kellner, H., Lorz, J., Redlich, S., Riebl, R., Rojas-Botero, S., Rummler, T., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Stengel, E., **Tobisch, C.**, Uhler, J., Uphus, L., Zhang, J., Müller, J., & Bässler, C. (2023). Diversity and specialization responses to climate and land use differ between deadwood fungi and bacteria. Ecography, 2023(11), e06807. https://doi.org/10.1111/ecog.06807
- Fricke, U., Redlich, S., Zhang, J., Benjamin, C. S., Englmeier, J., Ganuza, C., Haensel, M., Riebl, R., Rojas-Botero, S., **Tobisch, C.**, Uhler, J., Uphus, L., & Steffan-Dewenter, I. (2023). Earlier flowering of winter oilseed rape compensates for higher pest pressure in warmer climates. Journal of Applied Ecology, 60(2), 365–375. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.14335
- **Tobisch, C.**, Rojas-Botero, S., Uhler, J., Müller, J., Kollmann, J., Moning, C., Brändle, M., Gossner, M. M., Redlich, S., Zhang, J., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Benjamin, C., Englmeier, J., Fricke, U., Ganuza, C., Haensel, M., Riebl, R., Uphus, L., & Ewald, J. (2023). Plant species composition and local habitat conditions as primary determinants of terrestrial arthropod assemblages. Oecologia, 201(3), 813–825. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-023-05345-6
- Tobisch, C., Rojas-Botero, S., Uhler, J., Kollmann, J., Müller, J., Moning, C., Redlich, S., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Benjamin, C., Englmeier, J., Fricke, U., Ganuza, C., Haensel, M., Riebl, R., Uphus, L., & Ewald, J. (2023). Conservation-relevant plant species indicate arthropod richness across trophic levels: Habitat quality is more important than habitat amount. Ecological Indicators, 148, 110039. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2023.110039
- Uphus, L., Uhler, J., Tobisch, C., Rojas-Botero, S., Lüpke, M., Benjamin, C., Englmeier, J., Fricke, U., Ganuza, C., Haensel, M., Redlich, S., Zhang, J., Müller, J., & Menzel, A. (2023). Earlier and more uniform spring green-up linked to lower insect richness and biomass in temperate forests. Communications Biology, 6(1), 1052. https://doi.org/10.1038/s42003-023-05422-9

2022

- Benjamin, C. S., Uphus, L., Lüpke, M., Rojas-Botero, S., Dhillon, M. S., Englmeier, J., Fricke, U., Ganuza, C., Haensel, M., Redlich, S., Riebl, R., **Tobisch, C.**, Uhler, J., Zhang, J., Menzel, A., & Peters, W. (2022). Modelling the relative abundance of roe deer (Capreolus capreolus L.) along a climate and land-use gradient. Animals, 12(3), Article 3. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani12030222
- Englmeier, J., Hoermann, C., Rieker, D., Benbow, M. E., Benjamin, C., Fricke, U., Ganuza, C., Haensel, M., Lackner, T., Mitesser, O., Redlich, S., Riebl, R., Rojas-Botero, S., Rummler, T., Salamon, J., Sommer, D., Steffan-Dewenter, I., **Tobisch, C.**, Uhler, J., Uphus, L., Zhang, J., & Müller, J. (2022). Dung-visiting beetle diversity is mainly

affected by land use, while community specialization is driven by climate. Ecology and Evolution, 12(10). https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.9386

- Fricke, U., Redlich, S., Zhang, J., Tobisch, C., Rojas-Botero, S., Benjamin, C. S., Englmeier, J., Ganuza, C., Riebl, R., Uhler, J., Uphus, L., Ewald, J., Kollmann, J., & Steffan-Dewenter, I. (2022). Plant richness, land use and temperature differently shape invertebrate leaf-chewing herbivory on plant functional groups. Oecologia, 199(2), 407– 417. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-022-05199-4
- Fricke, U., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Zhang, J., Tobisch, C., Rojas-Botero, S., Benjamin, C. S., Englmeier, J., Ganuza, C., Haensel, M., Riebl, R., Uhler, J., Uphus, L., Ewald, J., Kollmann, J., & Redlich, S. (2022). Landscape diversity and local temperature, but not climate, affect arthropod predation among habitat types. PLOS ONE, 17(4), e0264881. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0264881
- Ganuza, C., Redlich, S., Uhler, J., Tobisch, C., Rojas-Botero, S., Peters, M. K., Zhang, J., Benjamin, C. S., Englmeier, J., Ewald, J., Fricke, U., Haensel, M., Kollmann, J., Riebl, R., Uphus, L., Müller, J., & Steffan-Dewenter, I. (2022). Interactive effects of climate and land use on pollinator diversity differ among taxa and scales. Science Advances, 8(18), 9359. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.abm9359
- Welti, E. A. R., Zajicek, P., Frenzel, M., Ayasse, M., Bornholdt, T., Buse, J., Classen, A., Dziock, F., Engelmann, R. A., Englmeier, J., Fellendorf, M., Förschler, M. I., Fricke, U., Ganuza, C., Hippke, M., Hoenselaar, G., Kaus-Thiel, A., Kerner, J., Kilian, D., Mandery, K., Marten, A., Monaghan, M. T., Morkel, C., Müller, J., Puffpaff, S., Redlich, S., Richter, R., Rojas-Botero, S., Scharnweber, T., Scheiffarth, G., Yáñez, P. S., Schumann, R., Seibold, S., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Stoll, S., **Tobisch, C.**, Twietmeyer, S., Uhler, J., Vogt, J., Weis, D., Weisser, W. W., Wilmking, M., & Haase, P. (2022). Temperature drives variation in flying insect biomass across a German malaise trap network. Insect Conservation and Diversity, 15(2), 168–180. https://doi.org/10.1111/icad.12555

2021

- Redlich, S., Zhang, J., Benjamin, C., Dhillon, M. S., Englmeier, J., Ewald, J., Fricke, U., Ganuza, C., Haensel, M., Hovestadt, T., Kollmann, J., Koellner, T., Kübert-Flock, C., Kunstmann, H., Menzel, A., Moning, C., Peters, W., Riebl, R., Rummler, T., Rojas-Botero, S., **Tobisch, C.**, Uhler, J., Uphus, L., Müller, J., & Steffan-Dewenter, I. (2021). Disentangling effects of climate and land use on biodiversity and ecosystem services— A multi-scale experimental design. Methods in Ecology and Evolution, 13(2), 514–527. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.13759
- Uhler, J., Redlich, S., Zhang, J., Hothorn, T., Tobisch, C., Ewald, J., Thorn, S., Seibold, S., Mitesser, O., Morinière, J., Bozicevic, V., Benjamin, C. S., Englmeier, J., Fricke, U., Ganuza, C., Haensel, M., Riebl, R., Rojas-Botero, S., Rummler, T., Uphus, L., Schmidt, S., Steffan-Dewenter, I., & Müller, J. (2021). Relationship of insect biomass and richness with land use along a climate gradient. Nature Communications, 12(1), 5946. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-26181-3

2019

- Brunner, M., Moning, C., & **Tobisch, C.** (2019). Ein Zollstock genügt. Einfaches Verfahren zur Beurteilung von Pflegezustand und Lebensraumeignung für Zielarten der Streuwiesen Oberbayerns. Naturschutz und Landschaftsplanung, 51(02), 2–7.
- Schrapp, L., **Tobisch, C.**, Schroth, O., & Blum, P. (2019). Qualität und Nutzbarkeit von OSM-Daten für landschaftsplanerische Fragestellungen. gis.Science, 32(3), 77–86.

Other publications

- Schölch, M., Zahner, V., Reger, B., Lackner, T., & **Tobisch, C.** (2022). Hochstümpfe im Wirtschaftswald naturschutzfachlich sinnvoll? Der Dauerwald, 66, 57–64.
- Schönhärl, M., Moning, C., & **Tobisch, C.** (2019). Gelbbauchunken können auch Schatten. Anliegen Natur, 41(1), 123–134.
- Zahner, V., Lackner, T., Reger, B., Schölch, M., & **Tobisch, C.** (2022). Köpfen für die Vielfalt. AFZ-Der Wald, 22(3), 18–21.

Contributions at international conferences

- **Tobisch, C.** & Ewald, J. (2023). The significance of forest biotopes for insect biomass and richness in normal landscapes. 52nd Annual Meeting of the Ecological Society of Germany, Austria and Switzerland, 12.-16.09.2023, Leipzig, Germany. (Poster)
- **Tobisch, C.** & Ewald, J. (2019). Plant species richness and composition of Bavarian normal landscapes in relation to climate and land use within the stratified LandKlif sample. 18th workshop of the German working group on vegetation databases: Vegetation Databases and the Biodiversity of Cultural Landscapes. 27.02.-01.03.2019, Triesdorf, Germany. (Oral presentation)